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Explanatory Note

Glowpoint, Inc. is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to amend its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2005 (the Original Filing ). The Original Filing is being amended to revise and restate (i)
Item 11, executive compensation, to reflect the inclusion of the 2004 bonuses paid to certain executive officers in February 2005; and (ii) Item
12, security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management, to correct errors in the tabulation of security ownership. Items 11 and 12
were previously incorporated by reference from Glowpoint s definitive Proxy Statement for the period ended December 31, 2004.

Except for the amendments described above, a current accountant s consent in Exhibit 23.1 and the replacement of the certifications contained in
Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2, this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A does not modify or update in any way the Original Filing. All
information contained herein is subject to updating and supplementing as provided in the periodic reports that Glowpoint has filed and will file
after the original filing date with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

Glowpoint, Inc. (NASDAQ: GLOW) a Delaware corporation, is the leading broadcast quality, IP-based video communications service provider.
We operate the Glowpoint network, a video communications service featuring broadcast quality images with telephony-like reliability, features
and ease-of-use. The Glowpoint network is the industry s only carrier-grade, broadcast-quality IP (Internet Protocol) based subscriber network
designed and managed exclusively for video communications. The Glowpoint network spans 14 points of presence (POPs), across 4 continents,
enabling customers to connect to any videoconferencing user no matter their service, technology and equipment across the United States, as well
as to virtually any major city around the world.

Since launching our subscription service in late 2000, we have carried over 25 million minutes of video calls for more than 600 different
customers in over 5,000 locations. From 2000 to 2003, we were a division of Wire One Technologies Inc., or Wire One, a leading provider of
video communication video systems from leading manufacturers. Wire One was formed in May 2000 by the merger of All Communications
Corporation and View Tech, Inc. After steady growth of the IP-based network service business through early 2003, we determined that
separating the Glowpoint video communication business from the Wire One equipment business would create larger distribution channels for
Glowpoint, allow for more aggressive product development and provide us with the opportunity to develop business relationships based solely
on the objective of expanding our product offering and increasing the size of our customer base.

On September 23, 2003, we completed the sale of the videoconferencing equipment business and officially changed our corporate name from
Wire One Technologies, Inc. to Glowpoint, Inc., in order to focus solely on growing the Glowpoint video communications service. Since 2003,
we have been exclusively focused on significantly improving the ease-of-use, cost-effectiveness, functionalities and quality of video
communication services in order to make it an integral communications tool, as easy and spontaneous as using the telephone with the power of
face-to-face communications.

Industry Overview

Videoconferencing has been a niche technology and application for over a decade. The initial rollout of videoconferencing over IP, which was
intended to replace legacy Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) technology, was a first step towards improving the quality and reducing
the cost of videoconferencing. Since it was first introduced, IP-based videoconferencing has made notable progress in lowering service and
hardware costs and increasing ease-of-use functionality. IP-based videoconferencing, according to a 2003 research report issued by Frost &
Sullivan, is emerging as a powerful business collaboration tool offering significant opportunities for service providers and cost savings to
enterprises.
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Videoconferencing services with value add-ons, such as web-based portals, centralized management and monitoring and seamless connectivity
between disparate endpoints and networks will continuously expand the end-user base. While most major service providers have introduced
IP-based videoconferencing services, widespread adoption of IP videoconferencing has been hindered by (1) large service providers reluctance
to fully commit to migrating to IP-based service, which would cannibalize their ISDN businesses, and (2) corporate information technology
managers fear that running video applications over the same network on which data is transmitted would slow down critical data transfer. To
overcome these challenges, many IP-based service providers are continuing to improve and augment their existing services with features and
services far superior to ISDN-based solutions, thus promoting the migration from ISDN to IP. In addition, industry participants have designed
innovative solutions to resolve Quality of Service, or QoS, issues, including building a network that is exclusively dedicated to video
communications.

Evolution of IP-Based Videoconferencing. Prior to 1996, video transmitted over IP networks was either experimental or proprietary because
there were no standards for transmitting video and the networks could not support the real-time characteristics for delay and jitter that audio and
video require. Beginning in 2000, a number of network service providers began capitalizing on the improvements in network data management
and control by offering IP voice and video services that favorably competed with ISDN-based video offerings. Relying on several
complementary technologies built into the latest network routers, switches and last-mile technologies, several companies began offering
IP-based services designed primarily for intra-company video communications. Today, IP videoconferencing is usually marketed as having four
major advantages over ISDN videoconferencing services: (1) less expensive, (2) more reliable than ISDN conferencing, (3) delivery of better
audio and video quality and (4) advanced services and features unavailable on ISDN based videoconferencing. IP-based videoconferencing also
provides significant management benefits, including constant connection to the packet-switched network. This constant connectivity allows
these systems to be remotely controlled and managed from a central location. Large-scale conferencing environments often use an IP-based
product, called a gatekeeper, to control and track the usage of their videoconferencing systems, enabling improved measurement of return on
investment and convenient billing mechanisms.

Market Movement to IP. Industry statistics indicate the movement to IP-based video communications has increased rapidly. A survey of
resellers conducted by Wainhouse Research indicates that 20% of median reseller equipment was installed in an IP environment. Furthermore,
median IP related services represent 15% of service revenue. These same resellers also reported that 38% of the group videoconferencing units
they sold went into IP installations. The implication is that a significant number of less expensive group videoconferencing systems are being
sold, and they are being installed in IP video deployments. Wainhouse Research found that cost is the primary IP video adoption driver.
Companies tend to transition from ISDN to IP because of the lower cost of transmitting video communications over an IP-based network.
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Need for Dedicated Network. Despite the fact that many corporate entities already have private networks that are theoretically capable of
supporting IP video communications, most are reluctant to run a video application over the same network that supports their enterprise data and
other applications. Among other concerns, the video communications applications would be required to share bandwidth with data applications
(for example, e-mail and file transfers) on a common network. Allocating enough bandwidth in a corporate local area network or Intranet to
handle real-time transmission of sounds and images, in addition to data applications, is difficult and can significantly impede overall network
performance. In addition, most businesses already find it difficult to effectively maintain and manage existing applications because of the
shortage of information technology and network personnel. As a result, businesses increasingly require a solution employing a network
dedicated to video, which enables them to manage video communications, isolating it from other applications and existing communications
infrastructure. An effective video network must also be easily scalable in much the same way that a company can simply add more phone lines
as its employee base and operations grow. Moreover, widespread adoption by both enterprise and consumer users requires a video
communications solution that provides the same reliability as public telephone service. We believe that there exists a significant opportunity to
provide an IP-based video communications solution that is as scalable, dependable and, ultimately, as commonplace as voice telephony.

Services and Features

Glowpoint offers customers a comprehensive portfolio of video communications services, including video-conferencing, managed bridging
conferencing services, Glowpoint enabling and white labeling services, professional services and managed webcasting services. Additionally,
Glowpoint offers a wide array of unique features that enhance all of these service offerings by allowing customers to make broadcast quality
video conferencing calls that are as easy, spontaneous and reliable as using a standard telephone.

Videoconferencing. Our videoconferencing service is focused primarily on driving revenue through our flagship All You Can See unlimited
video calling plan subscription offering. We offer five separate unlimited video calling plans, with standard pricing ranging from $299
(256Kbps), $499 (512Kbps) to $1,099 (1280 Kbps) per month based on connectivity bandwidth. We also provide custom plans for higher
bandwidth needs. Through our Network Services group, customers may also purchase and procure ISDN connectivity based on applicable
needs.

Each All You Can See unlimited video call plan subscription comes with a regular telephone number, which allows users to make and receive
calls without special codes or IP addresses. Our customers can also receive audio calls from colleagues through our video communications
network. Each subscriber has a unique, easy-to-use access code that makes videoconference calling spontaneous. Much like telephone
conference calls with a participant dial-in number and security code, our bridging-on-demand feature allows callers to dial into a subscribers
pre-assigned number whether or not the participant is also on our video communications network.
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All Glowpoint customers have access to a wide variety of free and pay for use features unique to us that make videoconferencing as easy and
spontaneous to use as the telephone with the power of face to face communications. Some of these key features include:

direct dial video numbers
000 live video operators
video call mailbox
video call assistant
bridging-on-demand
video mail creator
video presentation producer
video meeting recorder
video meeting companion
Glowpoint global international rates
billing and account codes
call forwarding
Managed Bridging Conferencing Services. Our managed bridging conferencing services group provides multi-point video communications

among three or more participants. These services include bridging-on-demand, advanced conferencing services and premium conferencing event
services.

bridging-on-demand allows users to have spontaneous, multi-point videoconferencing meetings regardless of the video hardware that each
participant is using. With a bridging-on-demand conference pass code, users can participate on a conference call at a moment s notice without
reservation.

advanced conferencing allows users to run multi-point videoconferencing meetings with up to 20 participating locations.

premium conferencing allows users to run multi-point videoconferencing meetings with more than 20 participating locations

Glowpoint Enabling and White Labeling. By Glowpoint enabling existing IP video communication networks, customers across the United
States and around the world can access our patent pending applications and advanced features that make video as easy and spontaneous as using
the telephone. Additionally, Glowpoint enabled customers can connect to virtually any video user worldwide across our network. Additionally,
by white labeling our services, our partners can deliver a completely customized, branded experience to their customers, including single
invoicing and one-stop customer support.
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Professional Services. Our professional services team primarily supports event-based activities and is also available to new and existing
customers as an outsourced consulting group.

Managed Webcasting. Our managed webcasting service is a comprehensive, managed service that brings together videoconferencing and
streaming media capabilities on a single platform, offering customers a cost-effective, outsourced solution that creates live and on-demand
webcasts through standards-based videoconferencing systems (H.320 and H.323). Our webcasting service provides an outsourced solution for
small, medium and large organizations that need to reach a global audience with engaging, rich-media messages and presentations in a simple
and cost-effective way over the web.

Sales and Marketing

‘We market and sell our services to a broad base of business sectors including commercial, government, medical, legal, education and
broadcasting through both direct and indirect sales channels. The divestiture of the Wire One equipment business in 2003 has allowed us to
expand and diversify these distribution partners which now also include leading videoconferencing manufacturers such as Sony and Tandberg
and international communication providers such as I-Vision in Australia. These relationships have not only expanded our sales distribution
network and revenue streams, but have also created new, disruptive distribution opportunities including co-branded, Glowpoint enabling and
white-labeling services. We continue to diversify our lead generation and sales efforts by integrating traditional reseller channels with aggressive
internal lead generation programs and vertical category focused marketing and promotional efforts. No matter t he lead generation, sales or
distribution channel, our goal is to provide all with a world-class service offering, sales and collateral materials, and training and management
tools to reduce barriers and increase our return on investment against our sales, marketing and promotional efforts.

Customers

We have a stable, growing subscriber base of over 325 customers ranging from Fortune 500 companies to federal, state and municipal
government entities to business and legal services firms to non-profit organizations. Vertical market segmentation among our current customers
is as follows: 33% corporate, 18% technical, 8% finance, 5% education, 9% legal, 4% medical and 18% government (local and federal) and 5%
non-profit. No single customer accounts for more than 10% of our revenues or accounts receivable.
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To provide customers the Glowpoint video communications service, we have contracted with numerous network providers for backbone circuits
and collocation facilities. Our primary vendors are Qwest and MCI for the backbone and Equinix for collocation facilities. We have also
contracted with a number of last mile providers in the US and abroad to deliver circuits to our customers. In the U.S., Covad Communications
and New Edge are our primary DSL providers with Qwest and MCI providing T1 services. Our goal is to partner with carriers who can provide
dedicated broadband access to our network using either digital subscriber lines (DSL), or dedicated 1.5 Mbps (T1) or 45 Mbps (T3) lines.
Products manufactured by most leading IP video communications and video networking equipment suppliers, including Sony, Polycom,
Tandberg, Radvision and Cisco Systems, are compatible with our video communications service.

We employ a proprietary network architecture consisting of state-of-the-art equipment co-located at Equinix, Savvis and Switch and Data
collocation centers across the country, connected by multiple dedicated high-speed DS3 circuits. The sites, each a Glowpoint POP, are
connected in a ring with strategic mesh points, which virtually eliminates the risk of a single point of failure and provides industry-leading
throughput, scalability and mission-critical resiliency. All equipment on the network complies with current H.323 (IP) and SIP standards.

Our network architecture was specially designed for the efficient and cost-effective delivery of feature-rich video content. The network boasts a
fully deployed and sophisticated gatekeeper infrastructure that can support thousands of video endpoints with redundancy. The design enables us
to provide a unique set of value-added services such as an exclusive call detail-recording (CDR) feature that allows for billing on a call-by-call
basis for point-to-point, gateway and multipoint calls. Network IP providers would have to install video-specific gatekeeper technology
throughout their networks to provide the additional functionality necessary to provide a similar service capability. The sheer volume of traffic
carried by the major carriers would make such a project enormously expensive, and, most likely, cost prohibitive. We have also developed a
specialized configuration of software, hardware and global positioning technology that enables us to accurately monitor jitter, packet loss and
latency, and maximize overall network performance.

With origins in videoconferencing equipment sales and service, we have a broad understanding of the unique demands placed on a network by a
videoconferencing application. Large-carrier IP networks were simply not designed for videoconferencing. Unlike a standard data application,
video applications immediately expose network performance limitations. This need for quality and reliability prompted us to develop a parallel
network exclusively dedicated to videoconferencing applications, but designed using standard network concepts and methodologies. We also
understand that a network alone would not offer a sustainable competitive advantage. Accordingly, we developed proprietary software and a
hardware-based service offering that leveraged our dedicated network architecture, and enabled us to offer a superior quality, yet easy-to-use
system. In addition to the billing and reporting capabilities discussed above, other features and services include operator assistance, call
forwarding, unassisted incoming and outgoing gateway calling, bridging-on-demand meeting rooms, web-based scheduling, LDAP
authentication services, firewall transport, customer information center, data collection and statistical analysis tools. We developed our service to
offer a unique set of network capabilities, services and features that are very difficult for competitors to match.
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Our video communications network provides customers with a high-quality platform for video communications over IP and related applications.
Our service offers subscribers substantially reduced transmission costs and superior video communications quality, remote management of all
videoconferencing endpoints utilizing simple network management protocol, or SNMP, gateway services to ISDN-based video communications
equipment, video streaming and store-and-forward applications from our network operations center, or NOC.

Our network allows our customers to connect to virtually everywhere across the country and around the globe and to users whether or not they
are on our network. Our service is superior to other videoconferencing services because it is the only service focused on three key factors that
are essential to successful video communications: network architecture, network management applications and hardware interoperability.

Network Architecture. Our network is a secure, state-of-the-art multiple protocol layer switching backbone with the critical redundancy and
reliability businesses demand for their critical applications. Our network is built as a ring with mesh points to provide full redundancy on the
backbone. Each Glowpoint POP is built with redundant equipment and circuits, allowing the network to achieve sub-second failover times and
99.99% availability. We operate 14 POPs, 10 in the U.S. and one each at facilities in Toronto, Canada; London, England; San Juan, Puerto Rico
and Tokyo, Japan. We offer the industry s most aggressive service level agreement (SLA) with a 99.99% QoS commitment. Making a video call
to a location not on our network is as simple as dialing the video number, including those video numbers using old ISDN technology.
Complicated access codes are not required because the intelligence built into our network makes the complex connections invisible. We are
currently the only service provider to offer unassisted incoming and outgoing gateway services. Our network supports SDSL, HDSL, Frac T1,
DS3, Sonet, ATM and Gigabit Ethernet options. Our network also supports H.323, H.320, and SIP. We peer with multiple carriers so users can
connect to users on any network, including the public internet.

Network Management Applications. We have developed pioneering video network management tools to provide a world-class customer
experience. Some of our patent-pending applications include:

000 video operator service users can simply dial 000 to connect to a live Glowpoint network operator.

unassisted gateway calling allows users to reach both Glowpoint network and non-Glowpoint network subscribers without any complicated
dialing instructions.

least-cost international routing our intelligent network selects the least expensive option for international calls, resulting in cost savings, even
on calls to ISDN users.

bridging-on-demand allows users to conduct a spontaneous conference call, including both video and audio participants.
9

10



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents

Hardware Interoperability. We continually test H.323 and SIP compliant equipment in the network. Our certification program was designed to
provide us with the opportunity to test and assess new equipment, options and configurations for use throughout the network. The program sets
strict standards for equipment performance at several levels. Customers can be assured that Glowpoint certified products conform to the highest
standards of H.323 compliancy as well as interoperability with other leading manufacturers of similar products. Our certification team has
created a comprehensive test and evaluation methodology requiring that each manufacturer s class of H.323 video communications equipment
meet or exceed performance, reliability and interoperability levels in the areas of video, audio, data, feature and capability set. Leading
equipment manufacturers like Polycom, Tandberg, Sony and Radvision consult us in an effort to gather technical feedback and certification to
their products.

Network Operations Center

We maintain a state-of-the-art network operations center (NOC) at our headquarters from which we monitor the operations of our network on a
24x7 basis. The NOC s primary functions are to monitor the network, manage and support all backbone equipment, provide usage information
for billing, provide utilization data for capacity planning and provide value-added customer services. Only usage information and authentication
packets, rather than actual video communications traffic, pass through the NOC. Technology in the NOC includes gatekeepers, routers and
switches, servers, firewalls and load-balancing devices. The NOC uses redundant circuits to connect directly to our backbone.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2004, we employed a staff of 10 software and hardware engineers who evaluate, test and develop proprietary applications.
The costs of this team of engineers totaled approximately $1.4 million, $1.3 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. To augment these resources, we engage independent consultants from time-to-time. We expect that we will
continue to commit resources to research and development in the future to further develop our proprietary network solution.

Intellectual Property

During the development of various aspects of our network, we developed applications and services that previously were not available. As a
result, we have developed a significant stream of intellectual property, some of which have already been submitted for U.S. patent protection.
We anticipate additional submissions in the future. To date, the following intellectual property has been submitted for patent protection:

10
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1. Glowpoint network architecture (how we built the network to support video over IP).

2. Dial 000 operator services;

3. Billing/call detail gathering and processing including the creation of a video centric invoice;
4. Automated gateway routing incoming and outgoing;

5. Video specific SLA polling and performance gathering; and

6. Service provider firewall traversal (VTS) process for video over IP

We do not know whether any patent applications previously submitted will be approved, whether patents will be issued from patent applications
which we may pursue or whether the scope of any patents issued will be sufficiently broad to protect what we consider to be proprietary
technologies or processes. Competitors may successfully challenge the validity and or scope of any such patents and or our trademarks.

To distinguish our service offerings from those of our competitors, we have obtained certain trademarks and trade names for our services, and
we maintain certain advertising programs with industry organizations and standards committees to promote our brands. We also protect certain
details about our processes, services and strategies as trade secrets, keeping confidential the information that we believe provides us with a
competitive advantage. We have ongoing programs designed to maintain the confidentiality of such information. We expect to protect our
services and processes by asserting our intellectual property rights where appropriate and prudent. We will also obtain patents, copyrights and
other intellectual property rights used in connection with our business when practicable and appropriate.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we had 85 full-time employees. Of these employees, 20 are involved in engineering and development, 16 in customer
service, 12 in providing network support, 17 in sales and marketing and 20 in corporate functions. None of our employees is represented by a
labor union. We believe that our employee relations are good.

Competition

We compete primarily with providers of video communications transport services, including AT&T, MCI, Sprint and some of the regional Bell
operating companies and carriers. In the future, competition may increase from new and existing telecommunications services providers, which
may include certain of our network providers, many of which have greater financial resources than we do.

We compete primarily on the basis of our:

sole focus on the video communications industry;
breadth of service offerings;

nationwide presence;

technical expertise;

knowledgeable sales, service and training personnel; and
commitment to customer service and support.

11
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More than just a provider of bandwidth for video communications, we have developed a comprehensive approach to significantly improve
videoconferencing to the point that it has the potential to become an integral tool for business communications. We not only designed a network
specifically for video communications but also have continued to develop proprietary network applications to ensure high quality, complete
video communications. In addition, through our certification program, we have developed expertise in the area of hardware interoperability on a
network. Our value-added services include video operators, bridging/multi-point video, seamless connectivity from IP to ISDN connections,
on-line real-time billing and call management. Our services offer subscribers substantially reduced transmission costs and superior video
communications quality, remote monitoring, and management of all videoconferencing subscriber locations utilizing SNMP for products that
support SNMP, gateway services to ISDN-based video communications equipment, video streaming and store-and-forward applications, firewall
transport services and encryption.

We believe that our ability to compete successfully will depend on a number of factors both within and outside our control, including the
adoption and evolution of technologies relating to our business, the pricing policies of competitors and suppliers, the ability to hire and retain
key technical and management personnel and industry and general economic conditions.

Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located at 225 Long Avenue, Hillside, New Jersey 07205. These premises consist of approximately 9,000 square feet of
leased office space and warehouse facilities. The term of this lease expires on April 30, 2005. The base rental for the premises during the term of
the lease is $162,000 per annum. On January 3, 2005, we entered into an extension of our lease for a rolling six month period from the date of
notice that we want to leave the space. Effective May 1, 2005, our base rent increases to approximately $191,000 per annum. In addition, we are
obligated to pay our share of the landlord s operating expenses (that is, those expenses incurred by the landlord in connection with the ownership,
operation, management, maintenance and repair of the premises, including, among other things, the cost of common-area electricity, operational
services and real estate taxes). The Hillside premises house our corporate functions and our network operations center. In addition to our
headquarters, we lease an office in Windham, New Hampshire that houses our finance group and a technical facility in Ventura, California that
houses our Multiview Network Services group, help desk and technical personnel. We expect the Windham, New Hampshire office to be closed
by May 15, 2005 and the finance group to be relocated to the corporate headquarters in Hillside, New Jersey.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are not currently defending any suit or claim.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

12
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table presents historical trading information for our common stock for the two most recent fiscal years:

Glowpoint
Common Stock

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2003:
First Quarter $ 274 $ 1.69
Second Quarter 2.89 1.99
Third Quarter 3.65 2.57
Fourth Quarter 3.18 1.30
Year Ended December 31, 2004:
First Quarter 3.05 1.74
Second Quarter 2.57 1.62
Third Quarter 1.79 0.90
Fourth Quarter 1.59 0.98

On March 24, 2003, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $1.44 per share as reported on the NASDAQ National Market, and
44,867,857 shares of our common stock were held by approximately 247 holders of record. American Stock Transfer & Trust Company of
Brooklyn, New York is the transfer agent and registrar of our common stock.

Dividends

Our board of directors has never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and does not expect to do so for the foreseeable
future.

The holders of record of our Series B preferred stock, which was issued in January 2004, are entitled to receive, out of any assets at the time
legally available therefor and when and as declared by our board of directors, dividends at the rate of eight percent (8%) of the stated value per
share of $24,000.00 per share per year through July 21, 2005, increasing to twelve percent (12%) on July 22, 2005, payable annually at our
option in cash or, so long as we have available shares reserved for issuance, in shares of common stock. Dividends on the Series B preferred
stock accrue and are payable annually. Dividends on the Series B preferred stock must be paid prior and in preference to any declaration or
payment of any distribution on any outstanding shares of junior stock. On March 14, 2005, one institutional investor exchanged its 83.333 shares
of Series B preferred stock for 1,333,328 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 533,331 shares of common stock.
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Other than dividends to be paid on our Series B preferred stock, we currently intend to retain any earnings to finance the growth and
development of our business. Our board of directors will make any future determination of the payment of dividends based upon conditions then
existing, including our earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, as well as such economic and other conditions as our board of
directors may deem relevant. In addition, the payment of dividends may be limited by financing arrangements into which we may enter in the
future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On January 22, 2004, we issued (i) an aggregate of 203.667 of our series B preferred stock and (ii) an aggregate of 250,000 shares of restricted
common stock in exchange for the cancellation and termination of all of our outstanding 8% subordinated convertible notes in the aggregate
principal amount of $4,888,000. The notes were held by institutional and other accredited investors. We also reduced the exercise price of the
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock issued in connection with the notes from $3.25 to $2.75. Each share of Series B preferred
stock is convertible into 10,000 shares of common stock. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from registration under the
Securities Act by virtue of Section 3(a)(9) thereof.

On February 17, 2004, we issued 6,100,000 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 1,830,000 shares of common stock to
institutional and other accredited investors. The warrant exercise price is $2.75 per share of common stock. The gross proceeds from the offering
were $13.7 million and are being used for general corporate purposes. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from registration
under the Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof.

On March 14, 2005, we issued 6,766,667 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 2,706,667 shares of common stock to institutional
and other accredited investors. The warrant exercise price is $2.40 per share of common stock. The gross proceeds from the offering were
$10.15 million and are being used for general corporate purposes. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from registration under
the Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof.

On March 14, 2005 we issued 1,333,328 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 533,331 shares of common stock to an institutional
investor in exchange for the cancellation of 83.333 shares of our Series B preferred stock. The warrant exercise price is $2.40 per share of
common stock. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from registration under the Securities Act by virtue of Section 3(a)(9)
thereof.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the audited consolidated financial statements and footnotes included elsewhere in this Form
10-K/A.
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Statement of Operations Information:
Net revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross margin

Operating expenses
Research and development
Selling
General and administrative
Impairment losses on other long-lived assets
Amortization of goodwill

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations

Other (income) expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on marketable equity securities
Other income
Amortization of discount on subordinated debentures
Loss on exchange of debt

Total other (income) expenses, net

Loss before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net loss from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued AV operations

Income (loss) from discontinued VS operations
Income (loss) from discontinued Voice operations
Gain on sale of discontinued Voice operation

Net loss
Preferred stock dividends

Deemed dividends on series A convertible preferred stock

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands, except per share data)
$ 15,995 10,311  $ 5599 $ 3480 $ 1,475
12,842 10,062 5,597 2,898 1,105
3,153 249 2 582 370
1,433 1,261 1,024 583
8,050 5,494 3,831 1,233 409
8,471 6,373 5,363 10,071 3,237
1,379
102
17,954 14,507 10,218 11,989 3,646
(14,801) (14,258) (10,216) (11,407) (3,276)
85 377 123 100 344
42) @) (72) an (315)
62 1,026 432 598 78
(132)
(5,000)
3,165 1,988 39
1,354
(508) 3,384 522 621 107
(14,293) (17,642) (10,738) (12,028) (3,383)
212 200 511
(14,505) (17,642) (10,738) (12,228) (3,894)
(1,173) (2,696) (396)
(2,908) (3,624) (44,844) (1,566) 841
(287) 617) 521
277
(17,413) (22,439) (58,565) (14,530) (2,532)
(369)
(4,434) (13,723)
$ (17,782) (22,439) $ (58,565) $ (18,964) $ (16,255)
15
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Information:
Loss from continuing operations per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.40) $ (0.60) $ 0.37) $ 0.59) $ (0.30)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations per share:
Basic and diluted $ (0.08) $ 0.16) $ (1.66) $ 0.11) $ 0.10

Preferred stock dividends per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.01) $ $ $ $

Deemed dividends per share:
Basic and diluted $ $ $ $ 0.21) $ (1.07)

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.49) $ 0.76) $ (2.03) $ 091 $ (1.27)

Weighted average number of common shares and

equivalents outstanding:
Basic and diluted 36,390 29,456 28,792 20,880 12,817

Balance Sheet Information:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,586 $ 4,185 % 2,762 $ 1,689 $ 1,871
Working capital 6,002 4,865 27,819 15,639 19,921
Total assets 26,810 23,987 61,502 104,499 84,372
Long-term debt (including current portion) 35 1,904 5,846 83 3,128
Series A mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock 10,371
Total stockholders equity 21,226 18,814 36,586 68,909 49,658
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Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A. All statements contained herein that are not historical facts, including, but not limited to, statements
regarding anticipated future capital requirements, our future development plans, our ability to obtain debt, equity or other financing, and our
ability to generate cash from operations, are based on current expectations. The discussion of results, causes and trends should not be construed
to imply any conclusion that such results or trends will necessarily continue in the future.

The statements contained herein, other than historical information, are or may be deemed to be forward-looking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
involve factors, risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ materially from such statements. These
factors, risks and uncertainties include market acceptance and availability of new video communication services, the nonexclusive and
terminable at will nature of sales agent agreements, rapid technological change affecting demand for our services, competition from other video
communication service providers, and the availability of sufficient financial resources to enable us to expand our operations, as well as other
risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Overview

We provide comprehensive feature-rich video communications services with telephone-like reliability and ease-of-use on the industry s only
carrier-grade IP based subscriber network that is designed exclusively for video communications. Our network spans 14 points of presence
(POPs) across three continents and carries on average over 20,000 video calls per month, enabling users to connect across the United States, as
well as to virtually any business center around the world. Since launching our subscription service in late 2000, the Glowpoint network has
carried over 25 million minutes of video on behalf of over 600 customers in over 5,000 locations. The growth of subscriptions was fairly steady
through early 2003, when we determined that separating our video communications service from the equipment sales side of the business would
open up a much larger distribution channel for our video communications service. At the time of the sale, we changed our name from Wire One
Technologies, Inc. to Glowpoint, Inc. In September 2003, we completed the sale of our videoconferencing equipment business which had been
central to our operations, in order to focus solely on growing our video communications services. During the next twelve months, we became a
truly independent company as we were forced to reassess our business relationship with Wire One. We completely replaced the volume of our
only distribution channel with billable subscriber locations driving profitable revenue. Our mission is to significantly improve the ease-of-use,
cost-effectiveness, functionalities and quality of existing video communications in order to make it an integral part of business communications.

Wire One was formed on May 18, 2000 by the merger of All Communications Corporation and View Tech, Inc. From July 2000 through
November 2001, we made several small acquisitions for a total of approximately $9.3 million in cash and stock. In October 2001, we sold our
voice communications business for approximately $2 million and in March 2003, we sold our audio-visual business for approximately $0.8
million.

17

18



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents

On September 23, 2003, we sold substantially all of the assets of our video solutions (VS) business to an affiliate of Gores Technology Group
(Gores), a privately held international acquisition and management firm, in order to focus solely on growing our Glowpoint network service. The
VS segment included our videoconferencing equipment distribution, system design and engineering, installation, operation and maintenance
activities and consisted of: a headquarters and warehouse facility in Miamisburg, Ohio; a help desk operation in Camarillo, California; 24 sales
offices and demonstration facilities across the United States; and a client list of approximately 3,000 active customers with an installed base of
approximately 22,000 video conferencing systems. As a result, this segment is classified as a discontinued operation in the accompanying
financial statements with its assets and liabilities summarized in single line items on the consolidated balance sheets and its results from
operations summarized in a single line item on the consolidated statement of operations. See Note 3 for further information.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we named a new Chief Executive Officer and President, David C. Trachtenberg. On January 6, 2004, we launched
our new suite of the All You Can See unlimited video calling plans, in order to create a sustainable subscription based revenue stream that would
drive positive gross margin. We launched the new plans to drive gross margin targets of 60-65%; we made them one year minimum

subscriptions with no free trial period; we now pre-qualify each new site to align properly our connectivity costs with our subscription revenues

and we discontinued our pay-as-you-go and hourly plans, thus reducing the dependency on our no-margin, low revenue legacy business. We also
accomplished our mission of making video as easy and spontaneous as a phone call with the power of face-to-face communications. The
introduction of Lisa (video call director) and our video call director suite of IP services, including video call assistant, video call mailboxes and
dial 000 live operator completed this mission.

On April 20, 2004, we entered into a strategic alliance with Tandberg, Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Tandberg ASA (OSLO:TAA.OL), a
global provider of visual communications solutions. As part of the alliance agreement, we acquired certain assets and the customer base of
Tandberg-owned Network Systems LLC (successor to the NuVision Companies). Network Systems customers, primarily ISDN-based video
users, have immediate access to our video bridging and webcasting services. As part of the alliance, Tandberg s corporate use of IP video
communications and other telecommunications services, formerly purchased through Network Systems, is being provided exclusively by us
under a multi-year agreement. In addition, we assumed current contractual commitments with AT&T, MCI and Sprint from Network Systems,
which have been consolidated into new agreements with these carriers. Lastly, Tandberg named the Glowpoint Certified Program as a
recognized ext ernal testing partner for its hardware and software products.

On December 7, 2004, we entered into a strategic partnership with Integrated Vision, Australia s leading video conferencing solution provider to
power the continent s first dedicated IP-based network for global video communications. The agreement is our first international interconnection
agreement for Glowpoint Enabling an existing communications network. Glowpoint enabled networks deliver patent-pending video
communication applications. Integrated Vision is responsible for the sales, marketing, operations and customer support of the Glowpoint
branded service in Australia.
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On February 17, 2005, we entered into a memorandum of understanding outlining a strategic alliance with Sony Electronics, Inc. in which the
two companies would create and launch a complete, Sony customized, user friendly video communication solution focused on broadening the
use of IP-based video in and out of traditional office environments. On March 28, 2005, we entered into a sales agency agreement, a
development agreement and a joint marketing agreement with Sony to implement the transactions outlined in the memorandum of
understanding. The Sony service, powered by Glowpoint, will try to bring together Sony s state-of-the-art line of video conferencing systems
with our patent-pending advanced IP-based video applications and network services. The two companies are also developing joint initiatives to
support the growing use of IP-based video for more diverse and innovative applications, including the broadcasting production segment where
Sony is a recognized leader in providing customers with advanced audio and video equipment and systems. Through a white label arrangement,
the two companies plan on delivering a customized Sony experience that will allow subscribers to see and talk to anyone, anywhere around the
world regardless of network technology and device. Additionally, as part of the alliance and to support development of the new service, Sony
will install the Glowpoint powered solution into a number of their office locations in the U. S.

On March 14 2005, we announced the closing of a private placement that raised gross proceeds of $10.15 million from several unrelated
institutional investors, including existing and new shareholders. Under the terms of the financing, we issue approximately 6,766,667 common
shares. Additionally, we issued to the investors approximately 2,706,667 common stock purchase warrants at an exercise price of $2.40 per
share. The proceeds of the financing will be used for working capital requirements. We issued shares and warrants directly to the purchasers
under an effective universal shelf registration statement.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information derived from our consolidated financial statements expressed as a

percentage of our revenues:

Net revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross margin

Operating expenses

Research and development

Selling

General and administrative

Impairment losses on other long-lived assets

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations

Other (income) expense

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest income

Interest expense

Gain on marketable equity securities
Other income

Amortization of discount on subordinated debentures

Loss on exchange of debt

Total other (income) expenses, net

Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision

Net loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued AV operations
Loss from discontinued VS operations
Loss from discontinued Voice operations

Net loss
Preferred stock dividends

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
80.3 97.6 100.0
19.7 2.4
9.0 12.2 18.3
50.2 533 68.4
53.0 61.8 95.8
13.4
112.2 140.7 182.5
(92.5) (138.3) (182.5)
0.5 3.6 2.2
0.2) 0.1) (1.3)
0.4 10.0 7.7
0.8)
(31.3)
19.8 19.3 0.7
8.5
3.1) 32.8 9.3
(89.4) 171.1) (191.8)
1.3
(90.7) (171.1) (191.8)
(11.4) (48.2)
(18.2) (35.1) (800.9)
(5.1)
(108.9) (217.6) (1,046.0)
2.3)
(111.2)% 217.6)%  (1,046.0)%
20
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Year Ended December 31, 2004 (2004 Period) Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003 (2003 Period)

Net Revenues. Net revenues increased $5.7 million, or 55%, for the 2004 period to $16.0 million from $10.3 million for the 2003 period.
Contractual revenue increased $5.0 million, or 74%, to $11.9 million in the 2004 period from $6.9 million for the 2003 period. Contractual
revenue, which includes subscription and related revenue as has been reported previously plus NuVision revenue directly related to those
customers that are under contract, is a new categorization resulting from the NuVision acquisition completed in the June 2004 quarter. The most
significant component of this category, Glowpoint subscription and related revenue, increased $3.3 million, or 49%, in the 2004 period to $10.2
million from $6.9 million for the 2003 period. The growth in subscription and relate d revenue was the result of having, on average, 359 more
billable subscriber locations in the 2004 period than the 2003 period. There were 1,198 average billable subscriber locations in 2004 compared
to 839 in 2003, an increase of 43%. The average monthly subscription and related revenues increased 4.4% to $710 in 2004 from $680 in 2003.
The second category of contractual revenue is from the NuVision customer base and totaled $1.7 million for the 2004 period. Non-contractual
revenue increased 18% to $4.1 million for the 2004 period from $3.5 million for the 2003 period. Non-contractual revenue includes Glowpoint
non-subscription revenue (our event-driven category of revenue) plus NuVision revenue generated by customers that are not currently under
contract. The net increase in non-contractual revenue resulted from $1.1 million in revenue for services provided to NuVision customers,
partially offset by a decrease of $0.5 million in the 2004 period due to a decline in H.320 bridging revenue from the overall de cline in H320 or
ISDN bridging services.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased $2.7 million, or 28%, in the 2004 period to $12.8 million from $10.1 million for the 2003 period
but declined as a percentage of revenue from 97.6% in the 2003 period to 80.3% for the 2004 period. Infrastructure costs (defined as
backbone-related costs of network) remained flat at $3.2 million in the 2004 and 2003 periods. Access costs (defined as costs of connecting
subscriber locations to the network) increased $0.9 million, or 21%, in the 2004 period to $5.1 million from $4.2 million for the 2003 period.
The growth in access costs was the result of having, on average, 359 more billable subscriber locations each costing an average of $199 per
month for access to the network. There were 1,198 average billable subscriber locations in the 2004 period and 839 in the 2003 period. The
average monthly access costs per subscriber location fell 16% from $421 in the 2003 period to $355 in the 2004 period. The decline in average
monthly access costs per subscriber location is the result of increasing use of DSL as the means of accessing the network.

Gross Margin. Gross margins increased approximately $2.9 million in the 2004 period from $0.2 million in the 2003 period to $3.1 million for
the 2004 period. As a percentage of revenue, gross margins increased in the 2004 period to 19.7% as compared to 2.4% of net revenue in the
2003 period. The major factors in the positive movement in gross margin were the leveraging of the fixed infrastructure costs over a larger base
of billable subscriber locations, the pass through of the universal service tax fee that had not previously been charged to our customers in 2003,
the continued impact of new customers coming on with our higher margin All You Can See unlimited video calling plans targeted at 60-65%
margins, and improving the margins on legacy accounts through very targeted transition to our new unlimited annual subscription plans.
Additionally, gross margin on the NuVision business amounted to 32% in the 2004 period which favorably impacted overall gross margin.
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Research and Development. Research and development costs, which includes the costs of the personnel in this group, the equipment they use
and their use of the network for development projects, increased $0.2 million in the 2004 period to $1.4 million but decreased as a percentage of
revenue from 12.2% in the 2003 period to 9.0% in the 2004 period. It is expected that research and development costs will remain flat in coming
quarters as we design and develop new service offerings to meet customer demand and test new products and technologies across the network
without increasing current staffing levels.

Selling. Selling expenses, which include sales salaries, commissions, overhead and marketing costs, increased $2.5 million in the 2004 period
to $8.0 million from $5.5 million in the 2003 period. Selling expenses as a percentage of net revenues decreased from 53.3% in the 2003 period
to 50.2% in the 2004 period. The primary causes of the increases in costs for the 2004 period are the $1.5 million increase in salaries and
benefits resulting from the addition of 15 employees, the $0.4 million increase in marketing costs incurred related to trade shows, new product
launch activities, channel diversification activities and remaining customer trials. In addition, $0.4 million of the increase results from higher
commission and bonuses associated with higher revenue levels.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $2.1 million, to $8.5 million in the 2004 period from $6.4 million
in the 2003 period. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue declined from 61.8% for the 2003 period to 53.0% for the
2004 period. The primary components of the increase in costs in the 2004 period were $0.5 million in professional fees, the majority of which
related to executive searches during the 2004 period for new members of the management team, $0.4 million of costs related to severance and
the closing of the Company s New Hampshire office, $0.4 million of additional provision for bad debt related to the increase in the size of our
business, and $0.2 million in non-cash expense recorded in connection with the issuance of restricted stock as compensation.

Impairment Losses on Other Long-Lived Assets. In the 2003 period, as a result of our periodic evaluation of long-lived assets used in
operations, we determined that fixed assets with a net book value of $1.4 million were no longer being used in our IP video network and were
not generating cash flows to support their carrying values. In accordance with FASB Statement 144, these assets were written down to their fair
value in October 2003.

Other (Income) Expenses. Other expenses decreased $3.9 million to $(0.5) million in the 2004 period from $3.4 million in the 2003 period.
The decrease was primarily due to the $5.0 million of other income recorded in the 2004 period related to a one-time fee due from Wire One
Technology, Inc resulting from their acquisition of V-SPAN in October 2004. In addition, there was a decrease in interest expense of $0.9
million, resulting from the exchange of convertible subordinated debentures for convertible preferred stock in January 2004 and the termination
of the line of credit with JPMorgan Chase in February 2004, and a gain on marketable equity securities of $0.1 million in the 2004 period as
stock received in settlement of an account receivable was sold at a gain. Offsetting these items was accelerated amortization of the discount on
subordinated debentures totaling $3.2 million resulting from the exchange of the subordinated debentures for preferred stock in the 2004 period.
This caused a $1.2 million increase in amortization of discount on subordinated debentures between the two periods. In addition, the exchange of
the subordinated debentures for preferred stock resulted in the recognition of a $1.4 million non-cash charge on the exchange of debt in 2004.
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Income Taxes. In the 2004 period, we recorded a deferred tax liability representing the difference between the book and tax basis of goodwill
at December 31, 2004. No provision for income taxes was made in the 2003 period.

Discontinued Operations. We treated our AV division and VS segment as discontinued operations because: (1) the operations and cash flows
of this division and this segment have been eliminated from our ongoing operations as a result of disposal transactions and (2) we do not have
any continuing involvement in the operations of the division or the segment. In the 2004 period, there was no income (loss) from discontinued
AV operations and a $2.9 million loss from discontinued VS operations comprised of $2.0 million related to the determination of net assets and
the transition cost amount of the business by an arbitrator in accordance with the asset purchase agreement and the costs of the arbitration
process, $0.8 million related to the settlement of disputes with Gores and $0. 1 million related to the settlement of liabilities of the VS business
in excess of those previously accrued. In the 2003 period, we incurred a loss from discontinued AV operations of $1.2 million and from
discontinued VS operations of $3.6 million

Net Loss. Net loss attributable to common stockholders decreased to $17.8 million or $0.49 per basic and diluted share in the 2004 period
from $22.4 million or $0.76 per basic and diluted share in the 2003 period. Before giving effect to the aggregate $0.4 million in preferred stock
dividends on series B convertible preferred stock in the 2004 period and no preferred stock dividends in the 2003 period, we reported a net loss
of $17.4 million for the 2004 period and $22.4 million for the 2003 period.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 (2003 Period) Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002 (2002 Period).

Net Revenues. Net revenues from continuing operations increased $4.7 million, or 84%, in the 2003 period to $10.3 million from $5.6 million
for the 2002 period. Subscription and related revenue increased $4.5 million, or 195%, in the 2003 period to $6.8 million from $2.3 million for
the 2002 period. Non-subscription revenue consisting of bridging, events and other one-time fees increased $0.2 million, or 6%, in the 2003
period to $3.5 million from $3.3 million for the 2002 period. The growth in subscription and related revenue was the result of having, on
average, 578 more billable subscriber locations in the 2003 period than in the 2002 period and those billable subscriber locations each producing
an average of $752 per month in revenue. There were 839 average billable sub scriber locations in the 2003 period and 261 in the 2002 period.
The average monthly subscription and related revenue per subscriber location fell 9% from $747 in the 2002 period to $680 in the 2003 period.
The decline in average monthly subscription and related revenue per subscriber location is the result of the growth in the number of billable
subscriber locations using the $199 per month pay as you go plan. The $0.2 million increase in non-subscription revenue resulted from the
following: 1) a $0.5 million increase in H.323 bridging revenue from $0.7 million in the 2002 period to $1.2 million in the 2003 period resulting
from increased billable subscriber locations; 2) a $0.2 million increase in installation revenue from $0.1 million in the 2002 period to $0.3
million in the 2003 period due to the increase in installations from 397 in the 2002 period to 730 in the 2003 period; and 3) a $0.5 million
decline in H.320 bridging revenue from $2.2 million in the 2002 period to $1.7 million in the 2003 period.
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Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenue increased $4.5 million, or 80%;, in the 2003 period to $10.1 million from $5.6 million for the 2002 period.
Infrastructure costs (defined as backbone-related costs of network) increased $1.0 million, or 45%, in the 2003 period to $3.2 million from $2.2
million for the 2002 period. This increase resulted from two factors: 1) the build-out of the network to handle the video traffic of approximately
4,000 billable subscriber locations $0.6 million of the increase; and 2) the evolution of the network to gain long-term cost efficiencies or as a
result of backbone provider issues $0.4 million of the increase. Access costs (defined as costs of connecting subscriber locations to the network)
increased $2.5 million, or 147%, in the 2003 period to $4.2 mil lion from $1.7 million for the 2002 period. The growth in access costs was the
result of having, on average, 578 more billable subscriber locations in the 2003 period than in the 2002 period and those billable subscriber
locations each costing an average of $368 per month for access to the network. There were 839 average billable subscriber locations in the 2003
period and 261 in the 2002 period. The average monthly access costs per subscriber location fell 22% from $539 in the 2002 period to $421 in
the 2003 period. The decline in average monthly access costs per subscriber location is the result of the growth in the number of billable
subscriber locations using the $199 per month pay-as-you-go plan and by the increasing use of DSL as the means of accessing the network.
Other costs of revenue include the personnel costs related to providing the Glowpoint video communications service along with the ISDN
network costs of providing H.320 bridging services. These costs increased $0.9 million, or 53%, in the 200 3 period to $2.6 million from $1.7
million for the 2002 period. This increase resulted primarily from three factors: 1) increased depreciation related to increased equipment
deployed in the network $0.3 million; 2) credits recorded in the September 2002 quarter of approximately $250,000 related to refunds of
previously paid infrastructure and access fees; and 3) a $0.2 million increase in installation costs from $0.1 million in the 2002 period to $0.3
million in the 2003 period due to the increase in installations from 397 in the 2002 period to 730 in the 2003 period. ISDN network costs fell
$0.2 million in line with the decline in H.320 bridging revenue.

Gross Margin. Gross margins increased to approximately $0.2 million in the 2003 period from approximately $2,000 in the 2002 period. As a
percentage of revenue, gross margins increased in the 2003 period to 2.4%, as compared to 0.0% of net revenues in the 2002 period. The
primary cause of the increase in gross margin is the increase in revenue ($1.9 million impact assuming a 40% marginal gross margin on the
additional $4.7 million in revenue). Offsetting items included the increased fixed costs incurred to continue the build out of the network ($1.0
million), the costs to re-configure portions of the network that were incurred ($0.4 million) and the impact in the September 2002 quarter of
approximately $250,000 in refunds of previously paid infrastructure and access fees.
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Research and Development. Research and development costs, which include the costs of the personnel in this group, the equipment they use
and their use of the network for development projects, increased $0.3 million in the 2003 period to $1.3 million from $1.0 million in the 2002
period but were down as a percentage of revenue from 18.3% in the 2002 period to 12.2% of revenue in the 2003 period. The increase in
expenses was primarily the result of adding two full-time employees in the 2003 period.

Selling. Selling expenses, which include sales salaries, commissions, overhead, and marketing costs, increased $1.7 million to $5.5 million in
the 2003 period, from $3.8 million in the 2002 period but were down as a percentage of revenue from 68.4% in the 2002 period to 53.3% of
revenue in the 2003 period. The primary component of the $1.7 million increase in costs is the $0.9 million of marketing costs incurred in the
2003 period related to the NBA draft ($0.3 million) and customer trials ($0.6 million). The remainder of the variance results from higher
commissions and bonuses associated with higher revenue levels ($0.3 million), increased consulting expenses to review and re-launch our
operations, product set, on-line tools and marketing, as well as to establish the webcast service infrastructure and upgrade and automate our
customer service systems ($0.2 million) and increased sales overhead (rent, depreciation, telecommunications, insurance, travel and office
expenses) ($0.3 million).

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $1.0 million in the 2003 period to $6.4 million from $5.4 million
in the 2002 period. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenues for the 2003 period declined from 91.1% in the 2002
period to 61.8% in the 2003 period. The primary components of the $1.0 million increase in costs were $0.6 million in non-cash expense
recorded in connection with the issuance of restricted stock and warrants as compensation and for financing and consulting services, $0.2 million
of severance, change of management and other payouts and $0.3 million of additional professional fees incurred related to the search for a new
CEO, filing the proxy and holding the annual meeting in August, divestitures and other corporate activities.

Impairment Losses on Other Long-Lived Assets. In the third quarter of 2003, as a result of our periodic evaluation of long-lived assets used in
operations, we determined that fixed assets with a net book of $1.4 million were no longer being used in our IP video network and generating
cash flows to support their carrying values. In accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, these assets were written down to their fair value.

Other (Income) Expenses. Other expenses increased $2.9 million to $3.4 million in the 2003 period from $0.5 million in the 2002 period. The
increase was primarily due to the recognition of $2.0 million in amortization of discount on the subordinated debentures issued in December
2002. The other major component of this category, interest expense, increased $0.6 million to $1.0 million. This increase was primarily due to
higher interest expense on our line of credit facility of $0.1 million and interest accrued on the subordinated debentures of $0.6 million.
Amortization of deferred financing costs increased $0.3 million to $0.4 million in the 2003 period from $0.1 million in the 2002 period. In
addition to normal amortization recorded in the 2003 period, additional accelerated amortization of $0.2 million was recorded to recognize the
reduction in the commitment amount of the line of credit that occurred in 2003.
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Income Taxes. During the 2003 period, as we had done in the 2002 period, we established a valuation allowance to offset the benefits of
significant temporary tax differences due to the uncertainty of their realization. These deferred tax assets consist primarily of net operating losses
carried forward in the VTI merger, reserves and allowances, and stock-based compensation. Due to the nature of the deferred tax assets, the
related tax benefits, upon realization, will be credited substantially to the goodwill asset or additional paid-in capital, rather than to income tax
expense.

Discontinued Operations. In the 2003 period, we treated our AV division and VS segment as discontinued operations because: 1) the
operations and cash flows of this division and segment have been eliminated from our ongoing operations as a result of disposal transactions;
and 2) we do not have any significant continuing involvement in the operation of the division or the segment. We incurred a loss from
discontinued AV operations in the 2003 period of $1.2 million which was $1.5 million less than the $2.7 million loss incurred in the 2002
period. Loss from discontinued VS operations decreased $41.2 million in the 2003 period to $3.6 million from the $44.8 million loss incurred in
the 2002 period which included $41.4 million of impairment losses on goodwill and long-lived assets. Loss from discontinued voice operations
decreased $0.3 million in the 20 03 period to $0 from the $0.3 million loss incurred in the 2002 period.

Net Loss. Net loss attributable to common stockholders decreased to $22.4 million, or $0.76 per basic and diluted share, from $58.6 million, or
$2.03 per basic and diluted share, for the 2002 period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2004, we had working capital of $6.0 million compared to $4.9 million at December 31, 2003, an increase of approximately
22%. We had $4.6 million in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 compared to $4.2 million at December 31, 2003. The $1.1 million
increase in working capital resulted primarily from the net proceeds from the February 2004 private placement of common stock of $12.4
million and net proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $0.6 million offset by the funding of the $9.1 million usage of cash in operations
in the 2004 period and the purchase of $3.4 million of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements.

In January 2004, in exchange for the cancellation and termination of notes with an aggregate face value of $4,888,000 and forfeiture of any and
all rights of collection, claim or demand under the notes, we issued to the holders of the notes (i) an aggregate of 203.667 shares of Series B
convertible preferred stock and (ii) an aggregate of 250,000 shares of restricted common stock; and reduced the exercise price of the warrants to
purchase shares of our common stock issued pursuant to the original purchase agreement from $3.25 to $2.75. As a result of this exchange, the
$3.1 million of discount on subordinated debentures as of December 31, 2003 was written off to expense in the first quarter of 2004.
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In February 2004, we raised net proceeds of $12.4 million in a private placement of 6,100,000 shares of our common stock at $2.25 per share.
We also issued 1,830,000 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.75 per share. The warrants expire on
August 17, 2009. The warrants are subject to certain anti-dilution protection. In addition, we issued to our placement agent five-year warrants to
purchase 427,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.71 per share.

In March 2005, we entered into a common stock purchase agreement with several unrelated institutional investors in connection with the
offering of (i) an aggregate of 6,766,667 shares of our common stock and (ii) warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,706,667 shares of our
common stock. We received proceeds from this offering of approximately $10.15 million, less our expenses relating to the offering, which were
approximately $760,500, a portion of which represents investment advisory fees totaling $710,500 to Burnham Hill Partners, our financial
advisor. The warrants are exercisable for a five-year term and have an exercise price of $2.40 per share. The warrants may be exercised by cash
payment of the exercise price or by cashless exercise.

At December 31, 2003, we had a $7.5 million working capital credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank. Borrowings under this facility bear
interest at the lender s base rate plus 1 1/2% per annum. At December 31, 2003, there were no outstanding borrowings under this facility.
Proceeds from the sale of the VS segment were used to pay down the outstanding balance under the facility to zero. The credit facility remained
in place subsequent to the closing of the VS sale transaction. In February 2004, this credit facility was terminated at our request. As a result of
the termination of this credit facility, the $85,000 of unamortized deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2003 were written off to expense
in the first quarter of 2004.

The following summarizes our contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2004, and the effect such obligations
are expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Contractual Obligations Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Purchase obligations (1) $ 13,845,627 $ 5,458,148 $ 3,220,812 $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000 $ 1,166,667

Operating lease obligations 242,711 242,711
Capital lease obligations 35,373 35,373
Total $ 14,123,711  $ 5,736,232 $ 3,220,812 $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000 $ 1,166,667

(1) Under agreements with providers of infrastructure and access circuitry for our network, we are obligated to make payments under
commitments ranging from 0-5 years.
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Future minimum rental commitments under all non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending December 31
2005 $ 242,711

Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

Total minimum payments in 2005 $ 35,373
Less amount representing interest (401)
Total principal 34,972
Less portion due within one year (34,972)

Long-term portion

Net cash used by operating activities for the 2004 period was $9.1 million as compared to net cash used in operations of $6.8 million during the
2003 period. The primary sources of operating cash in 2004 were the $1.0 million increase in deferred revenue, $0.5 million increase in accounts
payable, $0.2 million increase in accrued expenses and the $0.2 million of proceeds from the sale of marketable equity securities. Significant
uses of cash included funding the $6.2 million cash loss from operations (net of the $17.4 million net loss and the total non-cash expenses of
$11.2 million), $4.1 million increase in other current assets, $0.5 million increase in accounts receivable and the $0.2 million increase in other
assets.

In an effort to further develop our Glowpoint network, we employ a staff of 10 software and hardware engineers who evaluate, test and develop
proprietary applications. Research and development costs, which include costs of the personnel in this group, the equipment that they use and
their use of the network, totaled $1.4 million in the 2004 period. It is expected that research and development costs will remain flat in coming
quarters as we design and develop new service offerings to meet customer demand, test new products and technologies across the network and
develop and enhance on-line tools to make the customer/partner experience a satisfying and productive one.

Investing activities for the 2004 period included purchases of $3.4 million for network, computer and videoconferencing equipment and
leasehold improvements. Our network is currently built out to handle the anticipated level of subscriptions for 2005. Although we anticipate

current expansion of the network, we have no significant commitments to make capital expenditures in 2005.
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Financing activities in the 2004 period included receipt of the $12.4 million of net proceeds from the February 2004 private placement of
common stock and the $0.6 million of exercise proceeds related to stock options.

We believe, based on current circumstances, that we have adequate capital resources to support current operating levels for at least the next
twelve months.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparing financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclose contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The following paragraphs include a discussion of some critical areas in which critical
accounting policies apply.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize service revenue related to our network subscriber service and the multipoint video and audio bridging services as service is
provided. In February, 2004, we began billing subscription fees in advance and at December 31, 2004, we had deferred approximately $811,000
of this revenue. Because the non-refundable, upfront activation fees charged to the subscribers do not meet the criteria as a separate unit of
accounting, they are deferred and recognized over the life of the customer relationship. At December 31, 2004, we had deferred approximately
$207,000 of activation fees and approximately $175,000 of related installation costs. Revenues derived from other sources are recognized when
services are provided or events occur.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on specifically identified amounts that we believe to be uncollectible. We also record
additional allowances based on certain percentages of our aged receivables, which are determined based on historical experience and our
assessment of the general financial conditions affecting our customer base. If our actual collections experience changes, revisions to our
allowance may be required. After all attempts to collect a receivable have failed, we write off the receivable against the allowance.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, primarily fixed assets, when events and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the assets might not be recoverable in accordance with FASB Statement No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-lived Assets . For purposes of evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by
those assets are compared to the carrying amounts of those assets. If and when the carrying values of the assets exceed their fair values, the
related assets will be written down to fair value.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset

We follow Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 requires, among other things, that companies no longer amortize goodwill, but instead test goodwill for
impairment at least annually. In addition, SFAS 142 requires that we identify reporting units for the purposes of assessing potential future
impairments of goodwill, reassess the useful lives of other existing recognized intangible assets, and cease amortization of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life should be tested for impairment in accordance with the guidance in

SFAS No. 142 (See Note 6).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R which addresses the accounting for transactions in which a company receives employee
services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the company or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value of the company s equity
instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. It eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation
transactions using APB Opinion No. 25 and generally requires that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value-based method. As
permitted by the current SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we have been ac counting for share-based compensation to
employees using APB Opinion No. 25 s intrinsic value method and, as such, we generally recognize no compensation cost for employee stock
options. We are required to adopt SFAS No. 123R for the interim period beginning after June 15, 2005. Based on the current outstanding
unvested number of stock options, we expect to record compensation charges totaling $2.0 million over the vesting period of the options. The
adoption of this statement will have no impact on our cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets, an Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions. SFAS No. 153 is based on the principle that exchange of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair
market value of the assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception of nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and
replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. SFAS 153 is effective for
nonmonetary asset exchanges in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We are currently evaluating the provisions of SFAS No. 153 and
do not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Inflation
We do not believe inflation had a material adverse effect on the financial statements for the periods presented.
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Risk Factors
Our history of substantial net losses may continue indefinitely and may make it difficult to fund our operations.

Glowpoint was formed by the merger of All Communications Corporation and View Tech, Inc. in May 2000. We reported a substantial loss
from operations in 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. We cannot assure you that we will achieve revenue growth or profitability or generate
positive cash flow on a quarterly or annual basis in the future, or at all. If we do not become profitable in the future, the value of our common
stock may fall and we could have difficulty obtaining funds to continue our operations.

Our success is highly dependent on the evolution of our overall market.

The market for videoconferencing services is evolving rapidly. Although certain industry analysts project significant growth for this market,
their projections may not be realized. Our Glowpoint network service utilizes IP (H.323) standards. As a result, our future growth, if any, will
depend on the continued trend of businesses to migrate to IP (H.323) based standards and away from the older, less reliable Integrated Services
Digital Network, or ISDN, technology. There can be no assurance that the market for our services will grow, that our services will be adopted, or
that businesses will use IP (H.323) based videoconferencing equipment or our IP subscriber network. If we are unable to react quickly to
changes in the market, if the market fails to develop, or develops more slowly than expected, or if our services do not achieve market
acceptance, then we are unlikely to become or remain profitable.

We depend upon our network and facilities infrastructure.

Our success depends upon our ability to implement, expand and adapt our national network infrastructure and support services to accommodate
an increasing amount of video traffic and evolving customer requirements at an acceptable cost. This has required and will continue to require
that we enter into agreements with providers of infrastructure capacity, equipment, facilities and support services on an ongoing basis. We
cannot assure you that any of these agreements can be obtained on satisfactory terms and conditions. We also anticipate that future expansions
and adaptations of our network infrastructure facilities may be necessary in order to respond to growth in the number of customers served.

We depend upon suppliers and have limited sources of supply for some services.

We rely on other companies to supply some components of our network infrastructure and the means to access our network. Some of the
products and services that we resell and certain components that we require for our network are available only from limited sources. We could
be adversely affected if such sources were to become unavailable to us on commercially reasonable terms. We cannot assure you that, on an
ongoing basis, we will be able to obtain third-party services cost-effectively and on the scale and within the timeframes we require, or at all.
Failure to obtain or to continue to make use of such third-party services would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Our network could fail, which could negatively impact our revenues.

Our success depends upon our ability to deliver reliable, high-speed access to our partners data centers and upon the ability and willingness of
our telecommunications providers to deliver reliable, high-speed telecommunications service through their networks. Our network and facilities,
and other networks and facilities providing services to us, are vulnerable to damage, unauthorized access, or cessation of operations from human
error and tampering, breaches of security, fires, earthquakes, severe storms, power losses, telecommunications failures, software defects,
intentional acts of vandalism including computer viruses, and similar events, particularly if the events occur within a high traffic location of the
network or at one of our data centers. The occurrence of a natural disaster or other unanticipated problems at the network operations center, key
sites at which we locate routers, switches and other computer equipment that make up the backbone of our network infrastructure, or at one or
more of our partners data centers, could substantially and adversely impact our business. We cannot assure you that we will not experience
failures or shutdowns relating to individual facilities or even catastrophic failure of the entire network. Any damage to or failure of our systems
or service providers could result in reductions in, or terminations of, services supplied to our customers, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our network depends upon telecommunications carriers who could become direct competitors and limit or deny us access to their network,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We rely upon the ability and willingness of certain telecommunications carriers and other corporations to provide us with reliable high-speed
telecommunications service through their networks. While these organizations are presently focusing on the ISDN market, they may decide to
enter the IP-based video communications market by providing video services over their network, in which case they would directly compete
with us. If this occurs, we cannot assure you that these telecommunications carriers and other corporations would continue to provide service to
us through their networks at reasonable prices, if at all. Failure to continue to be able to use such services would have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We compete in a highly competitive market and many of our competitors have greater financial resources and established relationships with
major corporate customers.

The video communications industry is highly competitive. A number of telecommunications carriers and other corporations, including AT&T,
MCI, Sprint and some of the regional Bell companies, have entered into the video communications industry. Many of these organizations have
substantially greater financial and other resources than us, furnish some of the same services provided by us, and have established relationships
with major corporate customers that have policies of purchasing directly from them. We believe that as the demand for video communications
systems continues to increase, additional competitors, many of which may have greater resources than us, will continue to enter the video
communications market.
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Our Glowpoint network has limited market awareness.

Our Glowpoint network was introduced in December 2000 and was only a small part of our operations until the sale of our video solutions
business in September 2003. Our future success will be dependent in significant part on our ability to generate demand for our Glowpoint
network and professional services. To this end, our direct marketing and indirect sales operations must increase market awareness of our
network to generate increased revenue. Our products and services require a sophisticated sales effort targeted at the senior management of our
prospective customers. All new hires will require training and will take time to achieve full productivity. We cannot be certain that our new hires
will become as productive as necessary or that we will be able to hire enough qualified individuals or retain existing employees in the future. In
January 2004, we began the relaunch of our video communications service. Our relaunch includes the introduction of new products and services,
including subscription calling plans, CustomerPoint (a customer portal that provides subscribers with online access to their account information),
and PartnerPoint (a sales agent portal that provides automated sales and marketing tools for our resellers). We cannot be certain that we will be
successful in our efforts to market and sell our products and services, including our relaunch of our services and products, and if we are not
successful in building market awareness and generating increased sales, future results of operations will be adversely affected.

As we expand our Glowpoint network and its use, any system failures or interruptions in our network may cause loss of customers.

Our success depends on the seamless, uninterrupted operation of our Glowpoint network and on the management of traffic volumes and route
preferences over our network. As we continue to expand our network to increase both its capacity and reach, and as traffic volume continues to
increase, we will face increasing demands and challenges in managing our capacity and traffic management systems. Any prolonged failure of
our network or other systems or hardware that causes significant interruptions to our operations could seriously damage our reputation and result
in customer attrition and financial loss.

We may be unable to adequately respond to rapid changes in technology.

The market for our Glowpoint network and related services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards and
frequent product introductions. The introduction of products and services embodying new technology and the emergence of new industry
standards may render our existing Glowpoint network and related services obsolete and unmarketable if we are unable to adapt to change. A
significant factor in our ability to grow and to remain competitive is our ability to successfully introduce new products and services that embody
new technology, anticipate and incorporate evolving industry standards and achieve levels of functionality and price acceptable to the market. If
our Glowpoint network is unable to meet its specifications or if it is unable to keep pace with technological changes in the videoconferencing
industry, our Glowpoint network could eventually become obsolete. We may be unable to allocate the funds necessary to upgrade our network
as improvements in videoconferencing networking technologies are introduced. In the event that other companies develop more technologically
advanced networks, our competitive position relative to such companies would be harmed.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We have exposure to interest rate risk related to our cash equivalents portfolio. The primary objective of our investment policy is to preserve
principal while maximizing yields. Our cash equivalents portfolio is short-term in nature; therefore changes in interest rates will not materially
impact our consolidated financial condition. However, such interest rate changes can cause fluctuations in our results of operations and cash
flows.

There are no other material qualitative or quantitative market risks particular to us.
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REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and the Stockholders of Glowpoint, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Glowpoint, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits pro vide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Glowpoint,
Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

BDO Seidman, LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

March 14, 2005
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Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Escrowed cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $97,384 and $71,620 at December 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively

Receivable from Gores Technology Group net

Other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment net
Goodwill net
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue

Current portion of capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred income taxes
Capital lease obligations, less current portion
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Subordinated debentures

Discount on subordinated debentures

Subordinated debentures, net

Stockholders equity:

Preferred stock, $.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, 203.667 Series B shares outstanding

GLOWPOINT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2004 2003
4,586,222 $ 4,184,897
337,153 335,188
2,762,892 2,305,552
2,750,000 209,688
938,775 1,230,290
11,375,042 8,265,615
12,591,011 13,024,055
2,547,862 2,547,862
296,332 149,574
26,810,247 $ 23,987,106
2,832,569 $ 2,368,484
1,486,949 900,690
1,018,186
34,972 131,182
5,372,676 3,400,356
212,000
34,972
212,000 34,972
5,584,676 3,435,328
4,888,000
(3,149,805)
1,738,195
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respectively 3,788 3,054
Treasury stock, 39,891 shares at cost (239,742) (239,742)
Deferred compensation (1,331,379) (1,650,607)
Additional paid-in capital 157,322,778 137,449,109

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders

(134,529,874) (116,748,231)

21,225,571 18,813,583

equity $ 26810247 $ 23,987,106

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GLOWPOINT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross margin

Operating expenses
Research and development
Selling
General and administrative
Impairment losses on other long-lived assets

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations

Other (income) expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on marketable equity securities
Other income
Amortization of discount on subordinated debentures

Loss on exchange of debt

Total other (income) expenses, net

Loss before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued AV operations
Loss from discontinued VS operations
Loss from discontinued Voice operations

Net loss
Preferred stock dividends

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Loss from continuing operations per share:

Basic and diluted

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
$ 15995177 $ 10,310,744 $ 5,599,216
12,842,471 10,061,881 5,596,801
3,152,706 248,863 2,415
1,433,013 1,261,485 1,024,060
8,049,537 5,493,905 3,830,489
8,471,026 6,372,677 5,363,373
1,379,415
17,953,576 14,507,482 10,217,922
(14,800,870) (14,258,619) (10,215,507)
84,796 376,596 122,680
(41,520) (7,000) (71,644)
61,871 1,026,469 431,792
(132,284)
(5,000,000)
3,165,036 1,987,550 39,360
1,354,000
(508,101) 3,383,615 522,188
(14,292,769) (17,642,234) (10,737,695)
212,000
(14,504,769) (17,642,234) (10,737,695)
(1,173,067) (2,696,223)
(2,908,331) (3,623,637) (44,844,385)
(286,880)
(17,413,100) (22,438,938) (58,565,183)
(368,543)
$ (17,781,643) $ (22,438938) $ (58,565,183)
$ 0.40) $ 0.60) $ (0.37)
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Loss from discontinued operations per share:
Basic and diluted

Preferred stock dividends per share:
Basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per share:

Basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$ (0.08) $ 0.16) $ (1.66)

$ 0.01) $ $

$ 0.49) $ 0.76) $ (2.03)
36,390,112 29,455,644 28,792,217
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GLOWPOINT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Treasury
Stock

Deferred
Compensation

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Accumulated

Deficit

Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 25,292,189 $

Amortization of deferred option

2,529 $ (239,742) $

(739,927) $105,629,915 $ (35,744,110) $ 68,908,665

. 292,191 292,191

compensation

Forfeiture of deferred option 260,742 (260,742)
compensation

Is§uance of stock options for 135,339 135.339
services

Extension of.expiration date of 206,663 206,663
COO stock options

Exercise of stock options 158,482 16 371,473 371,489

Exercise of warrants 54,339 5 5
Issuance of warrants for services 407,181 407,181
Issuance of warrants in
connection with subordinated
debentures 4,571,921 (39,360) 4,532,561
Issuance of shares in connection 5 46 5 343 20,257,618 20,257,961
with private placement

Net loss for the year (58,525,823)  (58,525,823)
Balance at December 31, 2002 28,931,660 2,893 (239,742) (186,994) 131,319,368 (94,309,293) 36,586,232
Amortlzatlpn of deferred option 161,446 161,446
compensation
Forfeiture 9f deferred option 25.548 (25.548)
compensation
Deferred compensation related to
the issuance of restricted stock 670,000 67 (1,945,200) 1,945,200 67
Amortization of deferred
compensation from the issuance 378,766 378,766
of restricted stock
Deferred compensation related to
the extension of the
post-termination exercise period
of stock options (2,233,834) 2,233,834
Amortization of deferred
compensation related to the
extension of the post-termination
exercise period of stock options 2,149,661 2,149,661
Exercise of stock options 603,012 60 630,875 630,935
Exercise of warrants 96,183 10 10
Issuance of warrants for services 775,151 775,151
Issuance of shares in lieu of
interest on subordinated
debentures 242,817 24 570,229 570,253
Net loss for the year (22,438,938)  (22,438,938)
Balance at December 31, 2003 30,543,672 3,054 (239,742) (1,650,607) 137,449,109 (116,748,231) 18,813,583

190,000 19 (511,500) 511,481
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Deferred compensation related to
the issuance of restricted stock
Amortization of deferred
compensation from the issuance
of restricted stock

Forfeiture of deferred stock
compensation

Deferred compensation related to
the issuance of stock options
Extension of expiration date of
stock options

(40,000)

Exercise of stock options 782,012
Exchange of subordinated
debentures for preferred stock,
common stock & the repricing of
warrants

Issuance of shares in connection
with private placement

Issuance of shares in lieu of
interest on subordinated
debentures

250,000
6,100,000

18,556
Preferred stock dividends
Net loss for the year

857,858

134,000 (134,000)
(161,130) 161,130
46,340
78 569,623
25 6,241,975
610 12,432,605
2 44,515

857,858

46,340
569,701

6,242,000
12,433,215

44,517
(368,543)
(17,413,100)

(368,543)
(17,413,100)

Balance at December 31, 2004 37,844,240 $

3,788 $ (239,742) $ (1,331,379) $157,322,778

$(134,529,874) $ 21,225,571

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GLOWPOINT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of discount on subordinated debentures

Non cash compensation

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Proceeds from sale of marketable equities

Impairment losses on goodwill

Impairment losses on long-lived assets

Deferred income taxes

Loss on disposal of equipment

Increase (decrease) in cash attributable to changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects

of acquisitions:

Escrowed cash

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Net assets of discontinued AV operations
Net assets of discontinued VS operations
Receivable from Gores Technology Group
Other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Deferred revenue

Other current liabilities

Net cash used by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements
Proceeds from sale of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements
Proceeds from sale of discontinued VS operation

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from common stock offering

Proceeds (costs) from issuance of subordinated debentures
Exercise of warrants and options, net

Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

$ (17.413,100) $ (22.438938) $ (58,565,183)
5,473,726 4,888,970 4,984,475
84,796 376,596 122,680
3,165,036 1,987,550 39,360
902,375 4,008,076 675,057
1,354,000
213,542
40,012,114
1,379,415 1,357,806
212,000
28,305
(1,965) (335,188)
(457,340) (1,027,661) 10,029,925
(2,401,306)
807,067 (807,067)
6,761,095
(2,750,000) (209,688)
(1,345,279) (1,937,752) (3,689,790)
(231,554) 52,151 (90,329)
464,085 (1,360,383) (3,247,953)
217,717 219,320 (1,009,341)
1,018,186 (27,009)
(1,465,049)
(9,093,775) (6,829,370)  (14,053,305)
(3,361,402) (2,399,297) (4,745,933)
15,000
16,233,312
(3,361,402) 13,834,015 (4,730,933)
12,433,215 20,257,961
(15,232) (249,355) 4,571,921
569,701 630,935 371,494
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Proceeds from bank loans 75,545,455 78,894,947
Payments on bank loans (81,390,971) (83,677,513)
Deferred financing costs (26,070) (505,074)
Payments on capital lease obligations (131,182) (91,957) (56,734)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 12,856,502 (5,581,963) 19,857,002
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 401,325 1,422,682 1,072,764
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,184,897 2,762,215 1,689,451
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 4,586,222 $ 4,184,897 $ 2,762,215

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest 17,355  $ 227,103 $ 182,176

Taxes $ $ $

Non-cash financing and investing activities:

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recorded non-cash amortization of discount on subordinated debentures of
$3,165,036, $1,987,550 and $39,360, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we issued shares of common stock in lieu of interest on subordinated debentures with
values of $44,517 and $570,253, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we exchanged convertible subordinated debentures for convertible preferred stock with a value
totaling $6,242,000.

We accrued preferred stock dividends of $368,543 during the year ended December 31, 2004.
We acquired equipment with costs totaling $258,110 under capital lease arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2003.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

40

45



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Index
GLOWPOINT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Note 1 The Business

Glowpoint, Inc. ( Glowpoint or we or us ), aDelaware corporation, provides comprehensive feature-rich video communications services with
telephone-like reliability and ease-of-use on the industry s only carrier-grade, IP-based subscriber network that is designed exclusively for video
communications. The network spans four continents, enabling users to connect across the United States, as well as to virtually any business

center around the world. The growth of subscriptions was fairly steady through early 2003, when we determined that separating the video
communications service from the equipment sales side of the business would open up a much larger distribution channel for the Glowpoint

network. On September 23, 2003, Glowpoint, formerly known as Wire One Technologies, Inc. completed the sale of its video solutions (VS)
business to Gores Technology Group in order to focus solely on growing our video communications services. Our mission is to significantly
improve the ease-of-use, cost-effectiveness, functionality, and quality of existing video communications in order to make it an integral part of
business communications.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Glowpoint and our wholly owned subsidiaries, AllComm Products Corporation
( APC ), and VTC Resources, Inc. ( VTC ). All material inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual amounts could differ from the estimates made. We periodically evaluate estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements for
continued reasonableness. Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimates used are made prospectively based upon such periodic evaluation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize service revenue related to the Glowpoint network subscriber service and the multi-point video and audio bridging services as
service is provided. In February, 2004 we began billing subscription fees in advance and at December 31, 2004, we had deferred approximately
$811,000 of this revenue. Customer activation fees are deferred and recognized over the life of the customer relationship. At December 31,
2004, we had deferred approximately $207,000 of activation fees and approximately $175,000 of related installation costs. Revenues derived
from other sources are recognized when services are provided or events occur.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Our cash
and cash equivalents consisted of $4.9 million and $4.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

In September 2003, as a condition to closing the sale of our videoconferencing equipment business, we set aside $335,000 in an interest-bearing
escrow account. These funds, including interest thereon, are restricted as to their use until certain calculations required by the asset purchase
agreement are performed and agreed between the parties or determined by independent accountants and are included in escrowed cash on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003. On March 7, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into
a settlement agreement with Gores under which Gores released to Glowpoint the $335,000, including interest thereon that was escrowed at the
closing of the asset sale.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, and
uncollateralized trade accounts receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents primarily in commercial checking accounts and money
market funds. Commercial bank balances may from time to time exceed federal insurance limits; money market funds are uninsured.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers. No single customer accounts for more than 10% of our revenues or accounts
receivable. We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on specifically identified amounts that are believed to be uncollectible. We also
record additional allowances based on certain percentages of our aged receivables, which are determined based on historical experience and an
assessment of the general financial conditions affecting its customer base. If our actual collections experience changes, revisions to our
allowance may be required. After all attempts to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance.

Prepaid Commissions

Prior to the sale of the VS operation, we paid commissions to VS employees for their efforts in obtaining year-long customer subscriptions on
the Glowpoint network. These costs have been recorded as prepaid commissions and are amortized to selling expenses over the term of the
related customer agreement. Payments made to resellers for their efforts in obtaining customer subscriptions are treated similarly in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had deferred approximately $75,000 and $200,000,
respectively, related to prepaid commissions with the balance at December 31, 2004 related entirely to commissions paid to resellers.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Furniture and office, computer, videoconferencing, bridging and network equipment are depreciated
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to six years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter
of either the asset s useful life or the related lease term. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes.
Property and equipment include fixed assets subject to capital leases which are depreciated over the life of the respective asset.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, primarily fixed assets, when events and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the assets might not be recoverable in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) Statement No. 144

Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets . For purposes of evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets would be compared to the carrying amounts of those assets. If and when the
carrying values of the assets exceed their fair values, the related assets will be written down to fair value.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We follow Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 requires, among other things, that companies no longer amortize goodwill, but instead test goodwill for
impairment at least annually. In addition, SFAS 142 requires that we identify reporting units for the purposes of assessing potential future
impairments of goodwill, reassess the useful lives of other existing recognized intangible assets, and cease amortization of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment in accordance with the guidance in SFAS No.

142 (See Note 6).

Income Taxes

We use the liability method to determine our income tax expense or benefit. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities (principally certain accrued expenses, compensation expenses,
depreciation expense and allowance for doubtful accounts), and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse.

Earnings (loss) Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, plus the weighted average number of net shares that would be issued upon exercise of
stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method and the deemed conversion of subordinated debentures using the if-converted
method. Diluted loss per share for 2004, 2003 and 2002 is the same as basic loss per share, since the effects of the calculation for those years
were anti-dilutive.
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Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Weighted average shares outstanding 36,390,112 29,455,644 28,792,217
Effect of dilutive options and warrants
Weighted average shares outstanding including dilutive effect of securities 36,390,112 29,455,644 28,792,217

Weighted average options and warrants to purchase 12,829,219, 11,956,659 and 11,143,590 shares of common stock during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and subordinated debentures convertible into 2,036,667 common shares in 2003 and 2002,
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because we reported a net loss attributable to common stockholders for these
periods and their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation

We periodically grant stock options to employees in accordance with the provisions of our stock option plans, with the exercise price of the

stock options being set at the closing market price of the common stock on the date of grant. We account for our employee stock-based
compensation plans under Accounting Principles Board ( APB ) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and, accordingly,
account for employee stock-based compensation utilizing the intrinsic value method. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation , establishes a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. We have adopted the disclosure only
alternative under SFAS No. 123, which requires disclosure of the pro forma effects on earnings and earnings per share as if SFAS No. 123 had
been adopted as well as certain other information.

The fair value of stock options or warrants issued in return for services rendered by any non-employees is estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes pricing model and is charged to operations over the vesting period or the terms of the underlying service agreements. We
adjust these estimates for any increases in market price for each of our reporting periods.

44

49



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents

In 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure , which (i) amends SFAS No. 123, to
provide alterative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation (ii) amends the disclosure provisions of, SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure about the effects on reported net
income of an entity s accounting policy decisions with respect to stock-based employee compensation and (iii) amends APB opinion No. 28,

Interim Financial Reporting, to require disclosure about those effects in interim financial information. We continue to account for employee
stock-based compensation utilizing the intrinsic value method. The additional disclosures required by SFAS No. 148 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, as reported $(17,781,643) $(22,438,938) $(58,565,183)
Add: stock based employee compensation expense included in 25,952 2,311,107 292,191
reported net loss, net of tax
Deduct: total stock based employee compensation expense
determined under the fair value based method for all awards, net
of tax (843,262) (5,486,945) (6,125,125)
Pro forma net loss $(18,598,953) $(25,614,776) $(64,398,117)
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted[Jas reported $ (0.49) $ (0.76) $ (2.03)
Basic and diluted[Jpro forma $ (0.51) $ (0.87) $ (2.24)

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 under the Black-Scholes option pricing model was
$1.16, $1.23 and $1.90 per option, respectively.

The fair value of each option granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
Risk fees interest rates 4.27% 4.00% 3.89%
Expected option lives 10 years ~ 7.55 years 5 years
Expected volatility 94.66% 79.32% 145.41%
Expected dividend yields None None None
45

50



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments reported in our consolidated balance sheet consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and bank loan payable,
the carrying value of which approximated fair value at December 31, 2004 and 2003. The fair value of the financial instruments disclosed are
not necessarily representative of the amount that could be realized or settled nor does the fair value amount consider the tax consequences of
realization or settlement.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R which addresses the accounting for transactions in which a company receives employee
services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the company or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value of the company s equity
instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. It eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation
transactions using APB Opinion No. 25 and generally requires that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value-based method. As

permitted by the current SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we have been accounting for share-based compensation to
employees using APB Opinion No. 25 s intrinsic value method and, as such, we generally recognize no compensation cost for employee stock
options. We are required to adopt SFAS No. 123R for the interim period beginning after June 15, 2005. Based on the current outstanding
unvested number of stock options, we expect to record compensation charges totaling $2.0 million over the vesting period of the options. The
adoption of this statement will have no impact on our cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets, an Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions. SFAS No. 153 is based on the principle that exchange of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair
market value of the assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception of nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and
replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. SFAS 153 is effective for
nonmonetary asset exchanges in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We are currently evaluating the provisions of SFAS No. 153 and
do not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 Discontinued Operations

In September 2003, we completed the sale of all of the properties, rights, interests and other tangible and intangible assets that relate in any
material respect to our VS segment to Gores pursuant to the terms of the asset purchase agreement dated as of June 10, 2003. We are entitled to
receive total consideration of up to $24 million for the transaction, consisting of $21 million in cash, including $19 million received at closing
and a $2 million holdback, an unsecured $1 million promissory note maturing on December 31, 2004 and bearing an interest rate of 5% per
annum and a $2 million earn-out based on performance of the assets over the two years following the closing. Gores held back $2 million to
cover potential purchase price adjustments payable by Glowpoint arising under the asset purchase agreement. The $2 million cash holdback and
the $1 million unsecured promissory note were not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003 as Gores had not yet
completed their evaluation of the acquired assets. A deferred gain on sale of the VS operation totaling $646,000 was recorded and is a
component of accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003. Gores will also pay Glowpoint on
each of June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2005 additional payments, not to exceed an aggregate of $2 million, equal to five percent of the sum of (1)
the amounts billed by Gores from the operation of the VS segment by Gores after the closing, plus (2) the annual revenues derived from the
video solutions business of Pierce Technology Services, Inc. (formerly Forgent Networks, Inc.) for such year in excess of $96 million. If Gores
sells substantially all of the assets of its video solutions business prior to June 30, 2005, whether by merger, sale of stock or sale of assets, for
total consideration greater than $35 million, Gores will pay us $2 million less amounts previously paid. As partial consideration for the purchase
of assets, Gores assumed certain liabilities related to the VS segment, including (1) all liabilities to be paid or performed after the closing date
that arise from or out of the performance or non-performance by Gores after the closing date of any contracts included in the assets or entered
into after June 10, 2003 and (2) our accounts payable, customer deposits, deferred revenue and accrued liabilities related to the VS segment.
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The sale of our VS segment was approved by stockholders at our 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on Thursday, August 21, 2003.

The closing of the sale took place on September 23, 2003. The VS segment included our videoconferencing equipment distribution, system
design and engineering, installation, operation and maintenance activities consisting of: a headquarters and warehouse facility in Miamisburg,
Ohio; a help desk operation in Camarillo, California; 24 sales offices and demonstration facilities across the United States; and a client list of
approximately 3,000 active customers with an installed base of approximately 22,000 video conferencing systems. As a result, this segment is
classified as a discontinued operation in the accompanying financial statements, with its assets and liabilities summarized in single line items on
the consolidated balance sheets and its results from operations summarized in a single line item on the consolidated statement of operations.

Pursuant to the asset purchase agreement dated as of June 10, 2003 (the Agreement ), Gores agreed that, for a period of three years commencing
on the closing date, it would not, directly or indirectly, acquire or own any equity interest in the restricted competitors listed on a schedule to the
Agreement in a transaction that would result in Gores directly or indirectly marketing or selling services that are competitive with our Network
Business. Our Network Business consists of the Glowpoint service as well as bridging, gateway and network design operations. On October 8,
2004, Gores announced that it signed a definitive agreement to acquire V-SPAN, Inc., a video collaboration solutions company, in a merger
transaction with Wire One Technology, Inc. ( Wire One ), a videoconferencing equipment integration and service company. V-SPAN is one of
the restricted competitors listed on the aforementioned schedule and we believe that all of the services offered by V-SPAN are competitive with
our Network Business. The Agreement further provided that Gores may acquire any of the restricted competitors upon payment by Gores to us

of a one-time fee of $5 million. On December 2, 2004, we sued Gores to collect the $5 million owed under the Agreement as a result of Gores
acquisition of V-SPAN, Inc. on November 29, 2004.
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On January 12, 2005, we announced that PricewaterhouseCoopers had rendered its decision in our arbitration proceeding with Gores. The
arbitration was conducted pursuant to the asset purchase agreement governing the sale of our video solutions business. The arbitrator found 65%
in our favor, allowing $4.3 million of Gores $12.3 million in claims relating to the determination of the net assets of the business. In addition, the
arbitrator determined the transition cost amount defined by the agreement to be approximately $1.0 million.

On March 7, 2005, we announced that we had entered into a settlement agreement with Gores, resolving the outstanding disputes between the
companies relating to the sale of the assets of the video solutions business and Gores acquisition of V-SPAN. Pursuant to the agreement, Gores
paid us $2.75 million and released the $335,000, including interest thereon that was escrowed at the closing of the asset sale. We dismissed our
lawsuit against Gores relating to the V-SPAN acquisition.

Revenues and pretax loss from discontinued VS operations are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Revenues $ $ 40,253,589 $ 70,931,571
Pretax loss $ (2,908,331) $ (3,623,637) $(44,844,385)

In March 2003, we completed the sale of certain assets of our audio-visual ( AV ) component to Columbia, Maryland-based Signal Perfection
Limited for approximately $807,000, of which $250,000 was paid in cash at the close of the transaction and the balance of which was paid in full
in 2003. The sale of the AV component was aimed at enabling us to focus more of our resources to the development and marketing of our
Glowpoint network and to our video solutions business. As a consequence, this unit has been classified as a discontinued operation in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, with its net assets summarized in a single line item on the consolidated balance sheets and its
results from operations summarized in a single line item on the consolidated statements of operations.

Revenues and pretax loss from discontinued AV operations are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Revenues $ $ 3,876,822 $ 17,260,642
Pretax loss $ $ (1,173,067) $ (2,696,223)
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On October 24, 2001, we completed the sale of our voice communications business unit to Fairfield, New Jersey-based Phonextra, Inc. for
approximately $2,017,000, half of which was paid in cash at the close of the transaction and the balance of which was paid in the form of a
promissory note which was paid in 2002. The sale of our voice communications unit was aimed at enabling us to sharpen our focus on video
solutions and on Glowpoint. As a consequence, this unit has been classified as a discontinued operation in the accompanying financial
statements, with its results from operations summarized in a single line item on the consolidated statements of operations.

Revenues and pretax loss from discontinued voice operations are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Revenues $ $ $
Pretax loss $ $ $ (286,880)

The pretax loss recorded in 2002 was the result of several post-closing adjustments related to the settlement of liabilities with vendors and
customers for amounts in excess of those previously accrued.

Note 4 Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:

December 31,
2004 2003

Prepaid telecommunications costs $ 263,770 $ 268,465
Prepaid installation costs 174,946

Prepaid maintenance contracts 83,911 127,640
Sales tax refunds receivable 83,250 138,603
Prepaid commissions 75,275 199,571
Prepaid insurance 70,262 137,819
Prepaid professional fees 163,925
Marketable equity securities 74,065
Other current assets 187,361 120,202

$ 938775 $ 1,230,290
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Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,
Estimated
2004 2003 Useful Life
Leasehold improvements $ 419,057 % 389,080 5 Years
Office furniture and equipment 470,886 406,945 5 Years
Computer equipment and software 2,758,732 2,322,750 3 Years
Videoconferencing equipment 354,294 354,294 3 Years
Bridging equipment 1,244,063 1,244,063 5 Years
Network equipment 17,647,236 14,815,734 6 Years
Vehicles 220,316 220,316 5 Years
23,114,584 19,753,182
Less: Accumulated depreciation (10,523,573) (6,729,127)

$ 12,591,011 $ 13,024,055

Depreciation expense was $3,794,446, $3,115,863 and $4,096,596 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which
includes depreciation expense of $46,929 for 2004, $32,832 for 2003 and $57,937 for 2002 on fixed assets subject to capital leases. The
equipment under capital leases as of December 31, 2004 had a cost of $258,110, accumulated depreciation of $79,761 and a net book value of
$178,349.

Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We adopted SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002. As of this date, we completed our Step 1 analysis and determined there was no impairment of its
existing goodwill. Subsequent to the completion of this initial transitional goodwill impairment test, certain events and changes in circumstances
caused us to reevaluate the goodwill for possible impairment. We used a fair value approach as of September 30, 2002 to reevaluate the existing
goodwill for impairment. We completed this valuation in the fourth quarter of 2002 and it resulted in an impairment of $40,012,114 of goodwill
in accordance with SFAS 142, which is included in loss from discontinued VS operations in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations.

Our acquisitions to date have all been accounted for using the purchase method. For purchase business combinations completed, the net carrying
amount of goodwill was $2,547,862 as of December 31, 2004. We completed our annual test of goodwill and other intangible assets for
impairment in the fourth quarter of 2004 in accordance with SFAS 142 and determined that no impairment existed.
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Note 7 Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2004 2003
Accrued compensation $ 899,230 $ 168,109
Accrued dividends 368,543
Customer deposits 86,266
Accrued professional fees 44,648
Deferred gain on sale of VS operation 645,745
Accrued interest 24,791
Other 88,262 62,045

$ 1,486,949 $ 900,690

Note 8 Bank Loan Payable and Long-Term Debt
Bank Loan Payable

In May 2002, we entered into a $25 million working capital credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank and incurred $505,074 in deferred
financing costs. Under terms of the three-year agreement for this facility, loan availability is based on (1) 80% of eligible accounts receivable
and (2) the lesser of 50% against eligible finished goods inventory or 80% against the net eligible amount of the net orderly liquidation value by
category of finished goods inventory as determined by an outside appraisal firm, subject to an inventory cap of $2 million. Borrowings bear
interest at the lender s base rate plus '¥,% per annum. At December 31, 2003, the interest rate on the facility was 5.50%. The credit facility
contains certain financial and operational covenants. For the period from July 1, 2002 through September 30, 2002 (the 2002 Third Quarter ), we
were in violation of the covenant requiring us to meet a certain earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA ) target
for the three quarters ended September 30, 2002. In November, 2002, we concluded an amendment to the credit facility to cure noncompliance
with the EBITDA covenant. As compensation for this amendment, we granted 100,000 warrants with an exercise price of $1.99 to JPMorgan
Chase. The fair value of these warrants was determined to be $176,203 using the Black-Scholes valuation method and this amount was charged
to interest expense in 2002. For the period from October 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002 ( 2002 Fourth Quarter ), we were in violation of the
covenant requiring us to meet a certain EBITDA target for the four quarters ended December 31, 2002. In March 2003, we concluded an
amendment to the credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank to cure non-compliance with the EBITDA financial covenant. As compensation for
this amendment, we granted 100,000 warrants with an exercise price of $2.06 to JPMorgan Chase. The fair value of these warrants was
determined to be $187,210 using the Black Scholes valuation method and this amount was charged to interest expense in 2003. Some additional
highlights of the amendment include: 1) a reduction in the commitment amount of the line of credit from $25 million to $15 million; 2) revised
EBITDA covenant levels for the remainder of the term of the credit agreement; and, 3) maintenance of the interest rate, loan fees and provisions
of the borrowing formula at the same levels as previously negotiated. In September 2003, we signed a letter agreement with JP Morgan Chase to
further reduce the commitment amount of the line of credit from $15 million to $7.5 million. In connection with these amendments, we wrote off
approximately $188,000 of deferred financing costs in 2003. At December 31, 2003, there were no borrowings outstanding under the facility. In
February 2004, the working capital credit facility with JPMorgan Chase was terminated at our request. As a result of the termination of this
credit facility, the $85,000 of unamortized deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2003 was written off to expense in the first quarter of
2004.
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Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,
2004 2003
Bank loan payable $ $
Capital lease obligations 34,972 166,154
34,972 166,154
Less: current maturities 34,972 131,182
$ $ 34,972

Note 9 Subordinated Debentures

In December 2002, we raised net proceeds of $4.6 million in a private placement of $4,888,000 principal amount of 8% convertible debentures.
The debentures, which are convertible into 2,036,677 shares of common stock at $2.40 per share, are subordinate to our credit facility with
JPMorgan Chase Bank. The debentures mature in February 2004, or 90 days following the expiration (in May 2005) or earlier termination of the
credit facility, whichever is later. We have the option of paying interest quarterly on the debentures in the form of either cash or our common
stock. Investors in the private placement also received five-year warrants to purchase 814,668 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$3.25 per share. The warrants are subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. We also issued to our placement agent warrants to purchase
40,733 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per share with an expiration date of January 31, 2003.
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Costs of the offering, including the fair value of the warrants, totaled $2,519,000. This amount was recorded as a discount on subordinated
debentures and is being amortized over the period from the date of issuance to the August 2005 redemption date. In addition, in accordance with
EITF No. 00-27, we recorded additional discount on subordinated debentures of $2,369,000 to reflect the beneficial conversion feature of the
warrants. Accordingly, all of the proceeds from this financing have been credited to stockholders equity.

In January 2004, in exchange for the cancellation and termination of notes with an aggregate face value of $4,888,000 and forfeiture of any and
all rights of collection, claim or demand under the notes, we agreed to give the holders of the notes: (i) an aggregate of 203.667 shares of series
B convertible preferred stock; (ii) an aggregate of 250,000 shares of restricted common stock; and (iii) a reduction of the exercise price of the
warrants issued pursuant to the original purchase agreement from $3.25 to $2.75. As a result of this exchange, the $3.1 million of discount on
subordinated debentures as of December 31, 2003 was written off to expense in the first quarter of 2004.

Note 10 Stockholders Equity
Common Stock

In February 2004, we raised net proceeds of $12.5 million in a private placement of 6,100,000 shares of our common stock at $2.25 per share.
Investors in the private placement were also issued 1,830,000 common stock purchase warrants at an exercise price of $2.75 per share. The
warrants expire five and a half years after the closing date. The warrants are subject to certain anti-dilution protection. We also issued to our
placement agent five-year warrants to purchase 427,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.71 per share.

Preferred Stock

In December 1996, our stockholders approved an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation to authorize the issuance of up to 1,000,000
shares of preferred stock. The authorized number of shares of preferred stock to be issued was raised to 5,000,000 shares effective with the
merger with VTI. Except for the 2,450 shares of Series A preferred stock issued in June 2000 and the 203.667 shares of Series B preferred stock
issued in January 2004, the rights and privileges of the preferred stock have not yet been designated.

In January 2004, in exchange for the cancellation and termination of notes with an aggregate face value of $4,888,000 and forfeiture of any and
all rights of collection, claim or demand under the notes, we agreed to give the holders of the notes: (i) an aggregate of 203.667 shares of series
B convertible preferred stock; (ii) an aggregate of 250,000 shares of restricted common stock; and (iii) a reduction of the exercise price of the
warrants issued pursuant to the original purchase agreement from $3.25 to $2.75. As a result of this exchange, the $3.1 million of discount on
subordinated debentures as of December 31, 2003 was written off to expense in the first quarter of 2004.
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The Series B preferred stock ranks senior to our common stock and other junior stock and subordinate to any indebtedness we may have
outstanding. The Series B preferred stock holders are entitled to receive dividends at the rate of eight percent (8%) of the stated value per share
of $24,000 per share per year through July 21, 2005, increasing to twelve percent (12%) on July 22, 2005, payable annually at our option in cash
or shares of common stock. We must obtain the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the outstanding shares of Series B preferred
stock in order to issue any securities ranking senior to or on a parity with the Series B preferred stock. Other than as described in the preceding
sentence or as required by Delaware law, the Series B preferred stock has no voting rights. If we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our affairs, the
holders of the Series B preferred stock are entitled to receive a liquidation preference equal t o the stated value per share plus accrued and unpaid
dividends. The Series B preferred stock is convertible into our common stock at the conversion price of $2.40 per share of common stock. Upon
a change of control, the holders of the Series B preferred stock can require that we redeem their shares at the stated value per share plus accrued
and unpaid dividends. We also have the option to redeem the outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock at a price per share equal to 110% of
the stated value plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

Note 11 Stock Options
Glowpoint 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

In September 2000, we adopted and approved the Glowpoint 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan ) and reserved up to 3,000,000 shares of
common stock for issuance thereunder. In May 2002, our shareholders approved an amendment to the 2000 Plan increasing the amount of shares
available under the plan to 4,400,000. The 2000 Plan permits the grant of incentive stock options ( ISOs ) to employees or employees of its
subsidiaries. Non-qualified stock options ( NQSOs ) may be granted to employees, directors and consultants. We issued 1,593,400 options during
2004 with exercise prices ranging from $1.00 to $2.75 and vesting periods ranging to four years. We had issued options totaling 704,986 and
1,640,505 in 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, options to purchase a total of 3,124,020 shares were outstanding and

846,219 shares remained available for future issuance under the 2000 Plan.

The exercise price of the awards is established by the administrator of the plan and, in the case of ISO s issued to employees who are less than
10% stockholders the per share exercise price must be equal to at least 100% of the fair market value of a share of the common stock on the date
of grant or not less than 110% of the fair market value of the shares in the case of an employee who is a 10% stockholder. The administrator of
the plan determines the terms and provisions of each award granted under the 2000 Plan, including the vesting schedule, repurchase provisions,
rights of first refusal, forfeiture provisions, form of payment, payment contingencies and satisfaction of any performance criteria. Under the
2000 Plan, no individual will be granted ISO s corresponding to shares with an aggregate exercise price in excess of $100,000 in any calendar
year less the aggregate exercise price of shares under other company stock options granted to that individual that vest in such calendar year. The
2000 Plan will terminate in 2010.
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1996 Stock Option Plan

In December 1996, the Board of Directors adopted a Stock Option Plan (the 1996 Plan ) and reserved up to 500,000 shares of common stock for
issuance thereunder. In June 1998, our shareholders approved an amendment to the 1996 Plan increasing the amount of shares available under
the plan to 2,475,000. The 1996 Plan provides for the granting of options to officers, directors, employees and advisors. The exercise price of
incentive stock options ( ISOs ) issued to employees who are less than 10% stockholders shall not be less than the fair market value of the
underlying shares on the date of grant or not less than 110% of the fair market value of the shares in the case of an employee who is a 10%
stockholder. The exercise price of restricted stock options shall not be less than the par value of the shares to which the option relates. Options
are not exercisable for a period of one year from the date of grant. Under the 1996 P1 an, no individual will be granted ISO s corresponding to
shares with an aggregate exercise price in excess of $100,000 in any calendar year less the aggregate exercise price of shares under other stock
options granted to that individual that vest in such calendar year. The 1996 Plan will terminate in 2006. No options were granted under the 1996
Plan in 2004, 2003 and 2002. As of December 31, 2004, options to purchase a total of 66,825 shares were outstanding and no shares remained
available for future issuance under the 1996 Plan.

VTI Stock Option Plans

As part of the merger with VTI, we assumed the outstanding options of the four stock option plans maintained by VTI. These plans generally
require the exercise price of options to be not less than the estimated fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. Options vest over a
maximum period of four years and may be exercised in varying amounts over their respective terms. In accordance with the provisions of such
plans, all outstanding options become immediately exercisable upon a change of control, as defined, of VTI. VTI had authorized an aggregate of
1,161,000 shares of common stock to be available under all the current option plans. The plans will terminate in 2009. Options assumed as part
of the merger with VTI totaled 361,605. No options were granted under these Plans in 2004, 2003 and 2002. As of December 31, 2004, options
to purchase a total of 223,225 shares were outstanding and no shares remained available for future issuance.

We have also issued stock options outside of our qualified plans. At December 31, 2004, the total of these options outstanding was 1,532,893.
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A summary of options issued under our plans and other options outstanding as of December 31, 2004, and changes during fiscal 2002, 2003 and
2004 are presented below:

Weighted
Average
Fixed Exercise
Obti Range of Pri
ptions Price rice
Options outstanding, December 31, 2001 6,282,942 $ 30 1275 §$ 3.44
Granted 1,640,505 $ 1.00 5.48 2.10
Exercised (158,482) $ .76 4.40 2.36
Forfeited (755,544) '$ 53 9.85 4.14
Options outstanding, December 31, 2002 7,009,421 $ 30 1275 $ 3.08
Granted (1) 704986 $ 1.13 4.5 3.08
Exercised (603,012) $ .30 2.75 1.05
Forfeited (1,318,622) $ 1.00 9.85 3.79
Options outstanding, December 31, 2003 5,792,773 $ 53 1275 $ 3.12
Granted 1,593,400 $ 1.00 2.75 1.30
Exercised (782,012) ' $ .53 3.90 0.74
Forfeited (1,657,198) $ 1.00 12.75 3.77
Options outstanding, December 31, 2004 4,946,963 $ 57 985 $ 2.70
Shares of common stock available for future grant under company plans. 846,219

(1) InJanuary 2003, we granted a terminated employee 3,250 stock options at an exercise price of $1.13, which was below the fair market value
of our stock on the date of the grant. This was done to correct an oversight in not granting the options while he was an employee. We did not
record compensation cost related to the grant of these options as the impact was deemed to be immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Additional information as of December 31, 2004 with respect to all outstanding options is as follows:

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Price Outstanding Life (In Years) Price Exercisable Price
$0.57 0.63 13,750 003 $ 0.57 13,750  $ 0.57
0.64 2.20 1,960,863 865 §$ 1.36 710,296 $ 1.55
2.33  3.00 125,500 773 % 2.73 125,500 $ 2.73
3.03 4.00 2,468,375 447 $ 3.37 2,299,719  $ 3.37
4.06 5.50 294,725 596 $ 4.97 294,725  $ 4.97
5.73 9.85 83,750 023 $ 6.82 83,750 $ 6.82
$0.57 9.85 4,946,963 621 $ 2.70 3,527,740 $ 3.18

We have elected to use the intrinsic value-based method of APB Opinion No. 25 to account for its entire employee stock-based compensation
plans. Accordingly, at the date of grant no compensation cost was recognized in the accompanying financial statements for stock options issued
to employees because the exercise price of each option equals or exceeds the fair value of the underlying common stock as of the grant date for
each stock option.

Non-cash compensation expense recognized in our Statement of Operations totaled $902,375, $4,008,076 and $675,057 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded amortization of deferred compensation from the issuance of restricted
stock of $857,858. In addition, we recorded a non-cash interest charge of $44,517 related to shares of common stock issued to subordinated
debenture holders in lieu of cash interest payments.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded non-cash charges totaling $2,149,661 related to the extension of the post-termination
exercise period of stock options of former employees. We recorded a non-cash interest charge of $570,253 related to shares of common stock
issued to subordinated debenture holders in lieu of cash interest payments. Non-cash charges totaling $560,740 were recorded related to the
issuance of 100,000 warrants to our current investment advisory firm and the re-pricing of 220,000 warrants previously issued to our prior
investment advisory firm and its assigns. In addition, a non-cash charge of $378,766 was recorded to recognize the value of restricted stock
issued to employees, directors and consultants as compensation and for consulting services that had vested during 2004. In addition to this
charge, we recorded a $187,210 non-cash charge to interest expense for the Black-Scholes value of 100,000 warrants issue d to JP Morgan
Chase Bank as compensation for amending our credit agreement. The remaining $161,446 of non-cash compensation related to amortization of
deferred employee stock option compensation which originated in the fourth quarter of 2000.
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During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $206,663 related to a one-year extension of certain stock options
originally granted to our COO in 1997 and that were scheduled to expire in December 2002. The amount of the charge was calculated in
accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44 Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation which specifies that extending
the maximum contractual life of an award results in a new measurement of compensation cost at the date of modification and that any intrinsic
value at the modification date in excess of the amount measured at the original measurement date must be recognized as compensation cost
immediately if the award is vested. The expiration date of the 123,750 fully-vested options with an exercise price of $0.53 per share was

extended for one year on December 9, 2002. The market price of our common stock on that day was $2.20 per share. In addition to this charge,

we recorded a $176,203 non-cash charge to interest expense for the Black-Scholes value of 100,000 warrants issued to JP Morgan Chase Bank

as compensation for amending our credit agreement. The remaining $292,191 of non-cash compensation related to amortization of deferred
employee stock option compensation which originated in the fourth quarter of 2000.

Also, during 2002, we entered into a severance and consulting arrangement with our former president. Under the terms of the severance
arrangement, we granted the former president options to purchase 84,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.13 per share,
which vests 50% upon the date of grant and 50% on July 31, 2003. We valued these shares using the Black-Scholes pricing model and recorded
an $86,736 non-cash charge to restructuring for the vested portion of these shares. Under the terms of the consulting arrangement, we granted an
additional 50,000 options to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share, which vests 5,000 shares per month
until July 31, 2003. We also valued these shares using the Black-Scholes pricing model and recorded a $48,603 non-cash charge to prepaid
professional fees for the vested portion of these shares.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we received $569,701, $630,935 and $371,489 respectively from the exercise of
stock options.

At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding warrants which can be converted into 7,486,023 shares of common stock, with exercise prices
ranging from $1.00 to $10.50 and expiration dates ranging from June 6, 2005 to August 17, 2009. At December 31, 2004 these warrants have a
weighted average exercise price of $5.43 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.56 years. For the 2,257,000 warrants that were
granted in 2004, the weighted average grant date fair value as determined by the Black-scholes option pricing model was $1.95.
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Additional information as of December 31, 2004 with respect to all outstanding warrants is as follows:

Outstanding
Weighted
Average Weighted
Remaining Average
Number Contractual Exercise
Range of Price Outstanding Life (In Years) Price
$1.00 2.50 567,781 2.26 $ 2.09
271 275 3,071,668 4.12 $ 2.74
490 7.50 2,077,725 1.47 $ 6.23
9.00 10.50 1,768,849 1.22 $ 10.23
$1.00 10.50 7,486,023 2.56 $ 5.43

Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies
Employment Agreements
Our board of directors has approved employment agreements for a number of our executive officers as follows:

President and Chief Executive Officer We entered into an agreement with David Trachtenberg to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer
having a three-year term commencing October 15, 2003. Under the agreement, Mr. Trachtenberg is entitled, in years 1, 2, and 3, respectively, to
annual base compensation of $315,000, $345,000 and $375,000. Mr. Trachtenberg is also entitled to annual incentive compensation in an
amount equivalent to fifty percent (50%) of his then annual base salary subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by Mr.
Trachtenberg and the Compensation Committee of the board of directors, with such goals and metrics being updated on an annual basis. The
agreement provided for an award of 360,000 shares of restricted common stock, the fair value of which was determined to be $1,116,000.
Compensation expense will be recorded evenly over the life of the employment agreement. Compensation expense of $372,000 and $77,500 was
recorded during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. Such restricted stock will be forfeited if Mr. Trachtenberg s employment is
terminated for any reason with risk of forfeiture lapsing with respect to 120,000 shares on each anniversary of the commencement of his
employment. In addition, Mr. Trachtenberg is also entitled to reimbursement for the costs of a car to conduct company business and for parking
his car in New York City. Under the agreement, we must secure and pay the premium on a $2,000,000 life insurance policy payable to Mr.
Trachtenberg s designated beneficiary. Either we or Mr. Trachtenberg may terminate his employment at any time, for any reason or no reason at
all; however, if Mr. Trachtenberg is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason or if he dies, he is entitled to one year of his then annual
base salary, one year of his then annual incentive compensation, one year of continued reimbursement for his car and parking expenses and one
year of accelerated vesting on the restricted stock granted under the employment agreement. If Mr. Trachtenberg s employment is terminated
with cause or if he voluntarily resigns, he is entitled to his base salary and other benefits through the last day actually worked.
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Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer We entered into an agreement with Rod Dorsey to serve as Executive Vice

President Finance and Chief Financial Officer having a three-year term commencing December 7, 2004. Under the agreement, Mr. Dorsey is
entitled to annual base compensation of $245,000 with this annual salary to be reviewed from time to time in accordance with our established
procedures. Mr. Dorsey is also entitled to annual incentive compensation in an amount equivalent to forty percent (40%) of his then annual base
salary subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by the President and CEO with such goals and metrics being updated on an
annual basis. The agreement also provided for a grant of an option to purchase 125,000 shares of common stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting in
three equal annual installments. Either we or Mr. Dorsey may terminate his employment at any time, for any reason or no reason at all; however,
if Mr. Dorsey is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason or if he dies, he is entitled to six months of his then annual base salary, as
well as the pro-rated amount of incentive compensation due as of the effective date of termination and one year of accelerated vesting of the
stock options granted under the employment agreement. If Mr. Dorsey s employment is terminated with cause or if he voluntarily resigns, he is
entitled to his base salary and other benefits through the last day actually worked.

Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer We entered into an agreement with Michael Brandofino to serve as Vice President and

Chief Technology Officer having a three-year term commencing January 1, 2001. Under the agreement, Mr. Brandofino is entitled, in years 1, 2,
and 3 respectively, to annual base compensation of $165,000, $195,000 and $225,000 and to a discretionary bonus. The agreement provides for
a grant of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting in three equal annual installments. On April 24,
2002, Mr. Brandofino was named Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer and his agreement was amended to extend the term of
the agreement by one year with annual base compensation of $235,000 in year 4. In addition, Mr. Brandofino was granted an additional option
to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting in three equal installments. On July 30, 2002, the agreement was
amended to reduce the annual base compensation to $185,250 for the remainder of year 2 and to $213,750 and $223,250 in years 3 and 4,
respectively. Effective January 1, 2003, the agreement was further amended to reduce annual base compensation to $185,250 through December
31, 2003. Effective September 23, 2003, the agreement was further amended to reset base compensation for the period October 1, 2003 through
December 31, 2003 at the annual rate of $225,000 and for the period January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004 at the annual rate of $245,000.
The agreement also provided for a one-time guaranteed bonus of $35,000, payable on October 1, 2003 and a grant of an option to purchase
100,000 shares of common stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting 50% on each of December 31, 2003 and 2004. In addition, Mr. Brandofino s
agreement stipulates that if we enter into a sale agreement during the term of the agreement and Mr. Brandofino realizes less than $200,000 from
the exercise of all outstanding options, then he is entitled to a bonus in an amount equal to the difference between $200,000 and the amount
realized. Effective July 1, 2004, the agreement was further amended to establish annual base compensation of $245,000, $260,000 and $275,000
for the three years of the agreement. Mr. Brandofino is also entitled to annual incentive compensation in an amount equivalent to forty percent
(40%) of his then annual base salary subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by the President and CEO, with such goals and
metrics being updated on an annual basis. The agreement also provides for a grant of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock
under the 2000 Plan, with 25% vesting immediately and the remaining options vesting in three equal annual installments at the anniversary date
of the agreement. Either we or Mr. Brandofino may terminate his employment at any time, for any reason or no reason at all; however, if Mr.
Brandofino is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason or if he dies, he is entitled to one year of his then annual base salary and one
year of accelerated vesting of the stock options granted under the amended employment agreement. If Mr. Brandofino s employment is
terminated with cause or if he voluntarily resigns, he is entitled to his base salary and other benefits through the last day actually worked.
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Executive Vice President The Company entered into an agreement with Christopher Zigmont to serve as Executive Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer having a three-year term commencing January 1, 2001. Under the agreement, Mr. Zigmont is entitled, in years 1, 2, and
3 respectively, to annual base compensation of $175,000, $200,000 and $225,000 and to a discretionary bonus. The agreement provides for a
grant of an option to purchase 150,000 shares of common stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting in three equal annual installments. On July 30,
2002, the agreement was amended to reduce the annual base compensation to $190,000 for the remainder of year 2 and to $213,750 in year 3.
Effective January 1, 2003, the agreement was further amended to reduce annual base compensation to $190,000 for the remaining term. Mr.
Zigmont continues to serve under the terms and at the annual base compensation of his expired amended employment agreement. Effective July
1, 2004, the agreement was further amended to increase annual base compensation to $215,000 for so long as Mr. Zigmont remains employed by
us. Under the agreement, Mr. Zigmont is entitled to annual incentive compensation for 2004 in an amount equivalent to forty percent (40%) of
his then annual base salary subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by the President and CEO. The agreement also provides
for a one-time guaranteed bonus of $50,000, payable on December 31, 2004 and a grant of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of our common
stock under the 2000 Plan, vesting 50% on execution of the agreement and 50% on December 31, 2004. The post-termination exercise period for
all options held by Mr. Zigmont was extended to twenty-four (24) months. Mr. Zigmont is to be employed as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer through December 31, 2004 (or until a new Chief Financial Officer is hired), commencing as of the date of this
agreement (it being understood that the Employment Period may be extended to continue on an at will basis following December 31, 2004,
where either we or Mr. Zigmont may terminate his employment at any time, for any reason or no reason at all so long as they comply with the
terms of the agreement). If Mr. Zigmont is terminated without cause, or resigns for good reason, or dies, he is be entitled to severance equal to
seven and one-half (7 ' ) months salary at his then current rate of compensation as well as the continuation of benefits under the agreement.
Such severance will be paid either as a lump sum or as salary continuation, at our discretion. In December 2004 we decided that Mr. Zigmont s

employment will terminate in the first half of 2005 and accordingly, approximately $150,000 in severance and benefits costs were accrued at
December 31, 2004.
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Operating Leases

We lease several facilities under operating leases expiring through 2005. Certain leases require us to pay increases in real estate taxes, operating
costs and repairs over certain base year amounts. Lease payments for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were approximately
$304,000, $1,030,000 and $1,837,000, respectively. These amounts are inclusive of rent expense that was related to our discontinued VS and
AV operations.

Future minimum rental commitments under all non-cancelable leases are as follows:

Year Ending December 31 2005 $ 242,711

Capital Lease Obligations

We lease certain equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements. These leases are accounted for as capital leases. The equipment under the
capital leases as of December 31, 2004 had a cost of $258,110, accumulated depreciation of $79,761 and a net book value of $178,349.

Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

Total minimum payments in 2005 $ 35,373
Less amount representing interest (401)
Total principal 34,972
Less portion due within one year (34,972)
Long-term portion $

Legal Matters

We are not currently defending any suit or claim.
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Note 13 Restructuring Charge

During the year ended December 31, 2002, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring), we recorded a
restructuring charge of $960,000, of which $700,000 related to the discontinued VS operation. We recognized this charge in the period in which
(a) management having the appropriate level of authority to involuntarily terminate employees approved and committed us to a plan of
termination and established the benefits that current employees will receive upon termination, (b) the benefit arrangement was communicated to
employees and the communication of the benefit arrangement included sufficient detail to enable employees to determine the type and amount of
benefits they would receive if they were terminated, (c) the plan of termination specifically identified t he number of employees to be

terminated, their job classifications or functions, and their locations and (d) the plan of termination indicated that significant changes to the plan
of termination are not likely.

The significant components of the restructuring charge recorded as part of general and administrative expense are as follows:

Employee termination costs $ 500,000
Facility exit costs 460,000
Restructuring costs related to discontinued VS operation (700,000)

$ 260,000

The employee termination costs relate to 84 of our employees and officers terminated following the implementation of a cost savings plan. The
facility exit costs relate to the closing or downsizing of 19 sales offices.

The following table summarizes the activity against the restructuring charge:

Restructuring charge $ 260,000
Cash paid (135,000)
Non-cash expenses (125,000)

Accrual balance at December 31, 2004 $
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Note 14 Income Taxes

The income tax provision consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal $ $ $

State
Total current $ $ $
Deferred:

Federal $ (4,299,322) $ (6,923,914) $ (8,750,051)

State (758,704) (1,221,867) (1,544,127)

Valuation allowance 5,270,026 8,145,781 10,294,178
Total deferred $ 212,000 $ $
Income tax provision $ 212,000 $ $

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal tax rate as shown in the following table:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
U.S. federal income taxes at the statutory rate $ (5,848,375) $ (7,629,239) $(19,898,840)
State taxes, net of federal effects (1,032,066) (1,346,336) (3,511,560)
Goodwill amortization/write-off 12,946,542
Nondeductible financing costs 1,266,015 795,020
Nondeductible loss on extinguishment of debt 541,600
Valuation allowance 5,270,026 8,145,781 10,294,178
Stock-based compensation 82,680
Other 14,800 34,774 87,000
$ 212,000 $ $
64
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The tax effects of the temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2004 and 2003 are presented below:

December 31,

2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Tax benefit of operating loss carry forward $ 32582223 $ 28,534,935

Reserves and allowances 178,000 28,800

Goodwill 250,889

Fixed asset impairment charge 551,600

Stock based compensation 2,005,426 1,662,283

Other 198,692 202,092
Total deferred tax assets $ 35215230 $ 30,979,710
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation 361,542 1,254,415

Goodwill 212,000 141,633
Total deferred tax liabilities 573,542 1,396,048
Sub-total 34,641,688 29,583,662
Valuation allowance (34,853,688) (29,583,662)
Net deferred tax liabilities $212,000 $

During the periods presented, we maintained a valuation allowance to offset the benefits of significant temporary tax differences due to the
uncertainty of their realization. These deferred tax assets consist primarily of net operating losses, including losses of approximately $19.0
million carried forward in the VTI merger, reserves and allowances, and stock based compensation. If the tax benefits currently offset by
valuation allowances are subsequently realized, approximately $7.2 million will be credited to goodwill because these tax benefits relate to VTI
operations prior to the merger. In addition, approximately $3.2 million will be credited to additional paid-in capital because these tax benefits
relate to the exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options.
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We and our subsidiaries file federal returns on a consolidated basis and separate state tax returns. At December 31, 2004, we have net operating
loss (NOL) carryforwards of approximately $88 million and $80 million for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. The federal
NOL s have a carryover period of 20 years and are available to offset future taxable income, if any, through 2024. The utilization of
approximately $18 million in tax loss carryforwards is limited to approximately $2.6 million each year as a result of an ownership change (as
defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), which occurred in 2000.
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Note 15 Valuation Accounts and Reserves

The following table summarizes the activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Beginning balance $ 71,620 $ 285,000 $ 605,000
Charged to cost and expenses 508,207 794,172 1,502,914
Deductions (V (482,443) (753,552) (1,822,914)
Transferred with sale of VS operation (254,000)

Ending balance $ 97,384 $ 71,620 $ 285,000

(1) Represents the amount of accounts written off.
Note 16 Pension Plan

On March 1, 1998 we adopted a 401(k) retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) plan covered
substantially all employees who met minimum age and service requirements. The 401(k) plan was non-contributory on our part. Effective with
the merger with VTI, we assumed the 401(k) Plan of VTI, combined its assets with those of the existing plan and began making contributions to
the plan. Employer contributions to the 401(k) plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were approximately $26,000,
$77,000 and $115,000, respectively.

Note 17 Related Parties

We receive financial and tax services from an accounting firm in which one of our directors, Dean Hiltzik, is a partner. For the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we incurred fees for these services of approximately $23,000, $24,000 and $33,000, respectively. We also
entered into a consulting agreement with Mr. Hiltzik, dated January 2, 2001, for the provision of tax and financial services for one year. Mr.
Hiltzik received an immediately vested option to purchase 30,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $3.94 per share pursuant to
that agreement.
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Note 18 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of our unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2004 and 2003.

2004 2003
1st Quarter
Net revenues $ 3,224950 $ 2,226,858
Gross margin 485,197 (67,429)
Loss from continuing operations (3,558,703) (2,588,771)
Net loss (8,214,036) (4,649,267)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (8,287,959) (4,649,267)
Net loss per share basic and diluted (0.25) (0.16)
2nd Quarter
Net revenues $ 4,126,449 $ 2,674,630
Gross margin 830,855 70,310
Loss from continuing operations (3,247,666) (2,981,822)
Net loss (3,133,377) (4,899,707)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (3,230,869) (4,899,707)
Net loss per share basic and diluted (0.09) 0.17)
3rd Quarter
Net revenues $ 4,384,643 $ 2,581,476
Gross margin 950,081 93,185
Loss from continuing operations (3,489,752) (4,400,922)
Net loss (3,556,429) (7,630,319)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (3,654,993) (7,630,319)
Net loss per share basic and diluted (0.10) (0.26)
4th Quarter
Net revenues $ 4,259,135 $ 2,827,781
Gross margin 886,573 153,092
Loss from continuing operations (4,504,749) (4,286,809)
Net loss (2,509,258) (5,259,350)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (2,607,822) (5,259,350)
Net loss per share basic and diluted (0.07) (0.18)

Net loss per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly net loss per share figures in
2004 and 2003 does not equal the total computed for these years.

Note 19 Subsequent Events

In March 2005, we entered into a common stock purchase agreement with several unrelated institutional investors in connection with the
offering of (i) an aggregate of 6,766,667 shares of our common stock and (ii) warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,706,667 shares of our
common stock. We received proceeds from the sale of these shares and warrants equal to approximately $10.15 million, less our expenses
relating to the sale, which were approximately $760,500, a portion of which represents investment advisory fees totaling $710,500 to Burnham
Hill Partners, our financial advisor. The warrants that were issued are exercisable for a five-year term and have an exercise price of $2.40 per
share. The warrants may be exercised by cash payment of the exercise price or by cashless exercise.
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Item 9. Change in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) As of the end of the period covered by this annual report, our management concluded its evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. As of the end of the period, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer concluded that we maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are effective in providing reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Management necessarily applied its judgment in assessing the costs and benefits of such controls and procedures, which, by their
nature, can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management s control objectives.

(b) During the evaluation referred to in Item 9A(a) above, we have identified no change in our internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information called for by this item with respect to directors and executive officers is incorporated herein by reference to the information
contained in the section captioned Election of Directors in our definitive Proxy Statement for the period ended December 31, 2004, which Proxy
Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or before the end of April 2005.

The information with respect to our audit committee and our audit committee financial expert is incorporated herein by reference to the
information contained in the section captioned Election of Directors Board of Directors, Board Committees and Meetings in the Proxy
Statement. The information with respect to our code of ethics is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the section
captioned Election of Directors Code of Business Conduct and Ethics in the Proxy Statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The table below summarizes information concerning the compensation we paid during 2004 to our Chief Executive Officer and our four other
most highly paid executive officers during that year (collectively, the Named Executive Officers ), each of whom is currently one of our named
executive officers:

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation Awards
Restricted Securities All
Stock Underlying Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary($) Bonus ($) Awards Options Compensation
David Trachtenberg, Chief 2004 $ 327,519 $ 86,250 $ 150,000 $ 4,020

Executive Officer and 2003 $ 64212 $ $ 1,116,000 $ 2,9692)

President 2002 $ $ $ $
Gerard Dorsey, 2004 $ 17,9044 $ $ 125,000 $

Chief Financial Officer, 2003 $ $ $ $

Executive Vice President, Finance and Secretary 2002 $ $ $ $

(December 7, 2004 to present)
Michael Brandofino, 2004 $ 249481 $ 49,0005 $ 100,000 $

Chief Technology 2003 $ 194,694 $ 35,000 $ 100,000 $

Officer and Executive Vice President 2002 $ 183,938 $ $ 64,875 $
Richard Reiss, 2004 $ 154962 $ $ $ 2,783(6)

Chairman of the Board 2003 $ 359,492 $ 50,000 $ $

2002 $ 379250 $  75,000®) $ $ 5,764©)

Christopher Zigmont, Executive Vice President 2004 $ 206,346 $ 93,0000 $ 100,000 $

(December 12, 2004 to present); 2003 $ 190,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $

Chief Financial Officer, 2002 $ 188,654 $ $ 50,500 $

Executive Vice President,

Finance

(January 1, 2003 to December 12, 2004) and
Secretary

(February 1, 2003 to December 12, 2004)
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(1) Mr. Trachtenberg s bonus for 2004 was paid in February 2005.

(2) Reflects reimbursed expenses as set forth in Mr. Trachtenberg s employment agreement (see Employment Agreements and Compensation
Committee Report on Executive Compensation ).

(3) Reflects 360,000 restricted shares valued at $3.10 per share vesting in three equal installments over the life of Mr. Trachtenberg s
employment agreement.

(4) Mr. Dorsey s 2004 salary is prorated based on his December 7, 2004 employment date and his annual salary of $245,000.
(5) Mr. Brandofino s bonus for 2004 was paid in February 2005.

(6) Reflects premiums paid for a life insurance policy.

(7) Reflects payout of $29,492 with respect to accrued vacation.

(8) Formula bonus as set forth in Mr. Reiss employment agreement (see Employment Agreements and Compensation Committee Report on
Executive Compensation ).

(9) Mr. Zigmont received both a $50,000 bonus under the terms of his employment agreement and a bonus for 2004 of $43,000. The $50,000
bonus was paid in January of 2005; the bonus for 2004 was paid in February 2005.
Options Grants In 2004

The following table sets forth information regarding stock options granted pursuant to our stock option plan during 2004 to each of the named
executive officers.

Percent of
Total
Options Potential Realizable Value at
Number of Granted to Exercise Assumed Annual Rates of Stock
Underlying Employees In or Base Price Appreciation for Option Term
Options Fiscal Price

Name Granted Year 2004 (Per Share) Expiration Date 5% 10%
David Trachtenberg 150,000 10.7% $ 1.19 August 17,2014 $ 290,758 $ 462,983
Gerard E. Dorsey 125,000 89% $ 1.29 December 7,2014  $ 262,659 $ 418,241
Michael Brandofino 100,000 7.1% $ 1.36 July 26,2014 $ 221,530 $ 352,749
Richard Reiss
Christopher Zigmont 100,000 7.1% $ 1.36 July 26,2014 $ 221,530 $ 352,749

Aggregated Option Exercises In Fiscal 2004 And Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth information concerning the value of unexercised in-the-money options held by the Named Executive Officers as of
December 31, 2004.

Shares Number of Securities $Value of Unexercised
Acquired Value Underlying Unexercised In-The-Money Options at

Name on Exercise Realized Options at Fiscal Year-End Fiscal Year-end
Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

David Trachtenberg $ 150,000 $ $ 54,000

Gerard E. Dorsey $ 125,000 $ $ 32,500

Michael Brandofino $ 289,875 75,000 $ 17,298 $ 14,250

Richard Reiss $ 1,659,643 $ $

Christopher Zigmont $ 515,500 $ 29,710 $

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers. The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions of
such agreements and is subject to the detailed provisions of the respective agreements attached as exhibits to our filings with the Securities and
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Exchange Commission.
Employment Agreement with David Trachtenberg

The employment agreement with David Trachtenberg, our President and Chief Executive Officer, has a three-year term that commenced October
15, 2003. Under the agreement, Mr. Trachtenberg is entitled, in years one, two and three of his employment, to annual base compensation of
$315,000, $345,000 and $375,000. Mr. Trachtenberg is also entitled to annual incentive compensation in an amount equivalent to 50% of his
then annual base salary subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by Mr. Trachtenberg and our Compensation Committee and
updated on an annual basis. The agreement provides for an award of 360,000 restricted shares of our common stock, the fair value of which was
determined to be $1,116,000. These restricted shares will be forfeited if Mr. Trachtenberg s employment with us is terminated for any reason,
with risk of forfeiture lapsing with respect to 120,000 shares on each anniversary of the commencement of his employment. Mr. Trachtenberg is
also entitled to reimbursement for the costs of a car to conduct company business and for parking his car in New York City. Under the
agreement, we must secure and pay the premium on a $2,000,000 life insurance policy payable to Mr. Trachtenberg s designated beneficiary.
Either we or Mr. Trachtenberg may terminate his employment at any time, for any reason or no reason; however, if Mr. Trachtenberg is
terminated without cause or if he resigns for good reason or dies, he is entitled to one year of his then annual base salary, one year of his then
annual incentive compensation, one year of continued reimbursement for his car and parking expenses and one year of accelerated vesting on the
restricted shares granted under the employment agreement. If Mr. Trachtenberg s employment is terminated for cause or if he voluntarily resigns,
he is entitled to his base salary and other benefits through the last day actually worked.
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Employment Agreement with Gerard E. Dorsey

We entered into an agreement with Gerard Dorsey to serve as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance, for a three-year
term commencing December 7, 2004. Under the agreement, Mr. Dorsey is entitled to an annual base salary of at least $245,000 per year. He is
also entitled to receive incentive compensation in an amount equivalent to 40% of his then current annual base salary for the years 2005 and
2006, subject to the achievement of goals and metrics established by the CEO and Mr. Dorsey together. The agreement provides for an award of
options to purchase 125,000 shares of our common stock, with one-third of these options vesting annually on the anniversary of the grant. If Mr.
Dorsey is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason, he will be entitled to one year of accelerated vesting on these options, as well as
severance equal to six months of his then current annual base salary and the prorated amount of incentive compensation due as of the effective
date of termination. If Mr. Dorsey s employment with us is terminated for cause, the unvested options will be forfeited and all benefits and
compensation will cease as of the last day of his employment. Mr. Dorsey is also entitled to receive under the agreement up to $400 per month
for the lease or use of a car to conduct the company s business.

Employment Agreement with Christopher Zigmont

We entered into an employment agreement with Christopher Zigmont, our former Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President,
Finance, for a five-month term commencing July 1, 2004 with the option of extending his employment on an at-will basis after the expiration of
the term. We expect Mr. Zigmont to leave the company in the second quarter of 2005. Under the agreement, Mr. Zigmont is entitled to base
compensation equivalent to $215,000 per year and incentive compensation equivalent to 40% of his annual base salary subject to the
achievement of goals and metrics as established and evaluated by the CEO. The agreement also provided for a one-time guaranteed bonus of
$50,000 on December 31, 2004, and the grant of options to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock, with 50,000 options vesting upon
execution of the agreement and the remaining 50,000 options vesting on December 31, 2004. In addition, Mr. Zigmont is entitled to receive
under the agreement up to $400 per month for the lease or use of a car to conduct the company s business.

Employment Agreement with Michael Brandofino

On July 1, 2004, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Michael Brandofino, our Executive Vice President and
Chief Technology Officer. The agreement has a three year term, during which Mr. Brandofino is entitled to a base compensation of $245,000 for
the first year, $260,000 for the second year, and $275,000 for the third year. He is also entitled to annual incentive compensation in an amount
equivalent to 40% of his base salary for that calendar year, subject to the achievement of goals and metrics as established and evaluated by the
CEOQ, and reimbursement up to $400 per month for the lease of a car to conduct company business. He was awarded options to purchase 100,000
shares of the company s common stock, with options to purchase 25,000 shares vesting immediately upon execution of the agreement, and the
remaining options vesting at the rate of 25,000 per year on the anniversary of the grant. In addition, Mr. Brandofino s agreement stipulates that if
we enter into an agreement to merge or consolidate with one or more other corporations where we are not the surviving entity or a sale of
substantially all of our assets during the term of the agreement and Mr. Brandofino realizes less than $200,000 from the exercise of all
outstanding options, then he is entitled to a bonus in an amount equal to the difference between $200,000 and the amount realized.

72

78



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents
Employment Agreement with Richard Reiss

On December 31, 2004, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Reiss, under which Mr. Reiss agrees to
continue to assist our management in the development and marketing of our videoconferencing service and provide general executive level
advice through December 31, 2005. Mr. Reiss is entitled to a salary of $150,000 for the period. Under the amended agreement, we continue to
pay Mr. Reiss car lease through its expiration on December 31, 2005, Mr. Reiss cell phone monthly charges through December 31, 2005, the
cost to maintain a Glowpoint videoconferencing connection and a business telephone line at Mr. Reiss home through December 31, 2005, and
Mr. Reiss  business travel expenses related to performance of his duties under the agreement. In addition, we will continue to pay premiums
through December 31, 2005 on a $1.0 million life insurance policy payable to Mr. Reiss  designated beneficiary or estate. In addition, we are
required to pay COBRA premiums to maintain Mr. Reiss individual and family health insurance coverage for 18 months following the
termination of Mr. Reiss employment.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of common stock as of April 15, 2005 by each of the following:

* each person (or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) known by us to own beneficially
5% or more of the common stock;

e our directors and named executive officers; and

* all of our directors and executive officers as a group.
As used in this table, beneficial ownership means the sole or shared power to vote or direct the voting or to dispose or direct the disposition of
any security. A person is considered the beneficial owner of securities that can be acquired within 60 days of April 15, 2005 through the exercise
of any option, warrant or right. Shares of common stock subject to options, warrants or rights which are currently exercisable or exercisable
within 60 days of April 15, 2005 are considered outstanding for computing the ownership percentage of the person holding such options,
warrants or rights, but are not considered outstanding for computing the ownership percentage of any other person. The amounts and percentages
are based on 46,034,176 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 15, 2005.

SHARES OUTSTANDING
NAME AND ADDRESS OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS® OWNED® SHARES
Executive Officers and Directors:
David Trachtenberg 370,250
Gerard Dorsey 0
Michael Brandofino 294,91003
Richard Reiss 5,117,250 10.7%
Karen Basian 98,0005 *
Dean Hiltzik 310,818 *
James Spanfeller 86,5000 *
Michael Toporek 111,000 *
Christopher Zigmont 515,500 1.1%
All directors and executive officers as a group (9 people) 6,904,228(10) 14.2%
5% Owners:
North Sound Capital LLC 3,258,7370n 7.1%
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(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address of each person listed is c/o Glowpoint, Inc., 225 Long Avenue, Hillside, New Jersey 07205

(2) Unless otherwise noted indicated by footnote, the named persons have sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of
common stock beneficially owned

(3) Includes 289,875 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.

(4) Includes 1,659,643 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options and 82,500 shares held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Reiss'
children, of which he is the trustee.

(5) Includes 18,000 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.
(6) Includes 89,625 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options

(7) Includes 6,500 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.

(8) Includes 31,000 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.
(9) Includes 515,500 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.
(10)Includes 2,610,143 shares subject to presently exercisable stock options.

(11) Ownership information is based on the Schedule 13G filed by North Sound Capital Management, L.L.C. on December 31, 2004.
Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires executive officers and directors and persons who beneficially own
more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are required by regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of reports we received, or written representations that no such reports were required for those persons,
we believe that, for 2004, all statements of beneficial ownership required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission were filed on
a timely basis except that reports on Form 4 were late in being filed for Ms. Basian and Mssrs. Hiltzik, Kuster and Spanfeller, and a report on
Form 5 was late in being filed for Mr. Zigmont. The delay generally was the result of our administrative difficulties and not the fault of any of
the directors or executives. These reports reflected options granted to our non-employee directors for their attendance at meetings of the board of
directors and audit committee, options and restricted shares of our common stock granted to some of our executives in consideration for their
service to us, restricted shares of our common stock granted to an independent director, and the exercise of options where the grant had already
been reported on a Section 16(a) report.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information regarding the aggregate number of securities to be issued under all of our stock options and
equity-based plans upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and other rights and their weighted-average exercise prices as of December
31, 2004. The securities issued under equity compensation plans not approved by security holders consist entirely of options issued with respect
to individual compensation arrangements for officers, directors and consultants. Specifically, we issued most of these options to Richard Reiss,
our chairman, in connection with his employment agreement. We issued the remainder of these options to two consultants and two directors as
compensation for services.

74

80



Edgar Filing: GLOWPOINT INC - Form 10-K/A

Back to Contents

Number of Number of Securities
Remaining Available
Securities to be Weighted- for
Future Issuance
Issued Upon Average Exercise Under
Exercise of Price of Equity Compensation
Outstanding Outstanding Plans (excluding
Securities Reflecting
Options, Warrants, Options, Warrants, in
Plan Category and Rights and Rights Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 3,414,070 $ 2.46 846,219
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 1,532,893 § 324
Total 4,946,963 $ 2.70 846,219

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the sections captioned Executive
Compensation and Other Matters - Employment Agreements and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the section captioned Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Auditors in the Proxy Statement.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
A. The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements: See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 on page 22 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is
otherwise included.

3. Exhibits:

A list of exhibits required to be filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibit Index on page 76 of this Form 10-K/A, which immediately
precedes such exhibits, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

3.1
32

33
34
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3

10.4
10.5

10.6
10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. (V

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wire One Technologies, Inc. changing its
name to Glowpoint, Inc. 7

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series B Preferred Stock. 17

Amended and Restated Bylaws. (7

Specimen common stock Certificate. (7

Glowpoint, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

Placement Agent Agreement, dated January 2, 2002, between Registrant and H.C. Wainwright & Co., Inc. @

Form of Purchase Agreement for the purchase and sale of common stock and warrants to purchase Common Stock, dated January 10,
2002, between Registrant and the purchaser s party thereté?

Form of Warrant to purchase Common Stock, dated January 10, 2002. ®

Lease Agreement for premises located at 225 Long Avenue, Hillside, New Jersey, dated March 20, 1997, between Registrant and
Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. ©

First Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of December 1997, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. ()
Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of December 20,1999, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C.
(€]

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2000, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. 12
Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of August 29, 2000, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. ®
Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2001, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. 1
Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2002, between Registrant and Vitamin Realty Associates, L.L.C. 12
Warrant to Purchase common stock of Registrant issued to JPMorgan Chase Bank on November 13, 2002. (¥

Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of common stock of Registrant. 7

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 17, 2002, between Registrant and the Purchasers set forth therein. @

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of December 17, 2002, between Registrant and the Purchasers set forth therein. 7
Consulting Agreement with Kelly Harman dated January 21, 2003. ®

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 7, 2003, between Registrant and Signal Perfection Limited. (1
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10.18 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2003, between Registrant and Gores Technology Group. ©
10.19 Employment Agreement with David C. Trachtenberg dated as of October 3, 2003. (19
10.20 Restricted Stock Award to David C. Trachtenberg dated as of October 4, 2003. (19

10.21 Restricted Stock Award Agreement with Karen Basian dated November 4, 2003, and with James Kuster, Michael Sternberg and
Michael Toporek, each dated August 22, 2003. (19

10.22 Warrant to Purchase Shares of common stock of Glowpoint, Inc. 1

10.23 Common Stock Purchase Agreement between Registrant and the Purchasers Listed on Exhibit A. 11

10.24 Placement Agent Agreement, dated August 4, 2003, between Registrant and Burham Hill Partners, as amended as of January 29,
2004. 47

10.25 Restricted Stock Award Agreement with Dean Hiltzik, dated February 27, 2004. (17
10.26 Amendment to Consulting Agreement with Kelly Harman, dated January 1, 2004, 17
10.27 Employment Agreement with Joseph Laezza, dated as of March 11, 2004. (17

10.28 Employment Agreement with Stuart Gold, dated as of March 11, 2004. 17

10.29 Restricted Stock Award Agreement with Joseph Laezza, dated March 29, 2004. 17
10.30 Restricted Stock Award Agreement with Stuart Gold, dated March 29, 2004. (17
10.31 Form of Class A Warrant to Purchase common stock of Registrant. 14

10.32 Form of Class B Warrant to Purchase common stock of Registrant. 14

10.33 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated August 8, 2001. 19

10.34 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated August 8, 2001. 19

10.35 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated June 14, 2000. (19

10.36 Warrant to Purchase common stock issued to JPMorgan Chase on March 6, 2003. (12
10.37 Termination Agreement with Leo Flotron dated September 23, 2003. (10

10.38 Restricted Stock Award Agreement with James Spanfeller, dated June 23, 2004. (1®
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10.39 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Michael Brandofino, dated July 1, 2004. ('®

10.40 Employment Agreement with Christopher Zigmont, dated July 1, 2004. 19

10.41 Employment Agreement with Rod Dorsey, dated December 7, 2004. (1

10.42 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Richard Reiss, dated December 31, 2004. @
10.43 Form of Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 14, 2005. @D

10.44 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated March 14, 2005. ?P

10.45 Form of Exchange Agreement, dated March 14, 2005. ??

10.46 Sales Agent Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Sony Electronics, Inc., dated March 28, 2005. 22

10.47 Development Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Sony Electronics, Inc., dated March 28, 2005. ??

10.48 Joint Marketing Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Sony Electronics, Inc., dated March 28, 2005. ??

10.49 Settlement and Release Agreement between Glowpoint, Inc. and Gores Technology Group, dated March 4, 2005. @?
21.1 Subsidiaries of Glowpoint, Inc. ?

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP. @3

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer. 3

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer. ?®

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer. ?¥

322 Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer. 23

(1) Filed as an appendix to View Tech, Inc. s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-95145) and incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-42518), and incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2000, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(4) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 10, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 15, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(6) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-21069), and incorporated herein by reference.

(7) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 23, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-103227), and incorporated herein by reference.

(9) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(10)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal year quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(11)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2004,
and incorporated herein by reference.

(12)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(13)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(14)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(15)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-69432) and incorporated herein by reference.

(16)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 10, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(17)Filed as an Exhibit to Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(18)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(19)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 2004,
and incorporated herein by reference.

(20)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 6, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(21)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(22)Filed as an exhibit to Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(23)Filed herewith.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has caused this report to be signed on

its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GLOWPOINT, INC.

Date: June 17, 2005

By:

[s/ David C. Trachtenberg
David C. Trachtenberg

Chief Executive Officer

Signature

[s/ David C. Trachtenberg
David Trachtenberg

[s/ Gerard E. Dorsey
Gerard E. Dorsey

*

Richard Reiss

Karen Basian

Dean Hiltzik

James Spanfeller

*

Michael Toporek

[s/ Gerard E. Dorsey
Gerard E. Dorsey, Attorney-in-Fact

Title

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

Chairman

Director

Director

Director

Director
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